
17 March 2015

NOTICE OF MEETING

CHANDLER'S FORD AND HILTINGBURY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE
will meet on

Wednesday, 25 March 2015
beginning at

7:00 pm
in the

The Dovetail Centre, Methodist Church, Winchester Road, 
Chandler's Ford, SO53 2GJ

TO: Councillor Mrs Pamela Holden-Brown (Chair)
Councillor Alan Broadhurst (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Margaret Atkinson Councillor Mrs Haulwen Broadhurst
Councillor Judith Grajewski Councillor Michael Hughes
Councillor Godfrey G Olson Councillor David Pragnell

Staff Contacts: Karin James,  Democratic Services Officer Tel:023 8068 
8113;Email: karin.james@eastleigh.gov.uk
Min Partner, Area Co-ordinator Tel: 023 8068 8438; 
Email: min.partner@eastleigh.gov.uk

RICHARD WARD
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

_____________________________________________________________________

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the 
Council's website -

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings
as well as in other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and 

other languages, upon request.

Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the 
start of the meeting, and on individual agenda items at the time the 

item is discussed.  To register please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer above.

Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, 
sound recording and photography at meetings open to the public.

Eastleigh House
 Upper Market Street
Eastleigh SO50 9YN

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings


AGENDA

1. Minutes    (Pages 1 - 4) 

To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 21 January 2015..

2. Apologies    

3. Declarations of Interest     

Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes.

4. Public Participation    

5. Chairman's report    

6. Area Co-ordinator's Report    

7. Presentation on Planning Guidelines    

8. Planning Application - 237 Winchester Road, Chandler's Ford    (Pages 5 - 16) 

Erection of 2No. five bedroom dwellings with detached carports and associated 
parking, cycle store and landscaping following demolition of existing (Ref. 
F/14/75684).

9. Planning Application - 237 Winchester Road, Chandler's Ford    (Pages 17 - 26) 

Erection of a detached oak framed open bay double car port (Ref. F/15/75945).

10. Planning Application - 1 Hiltingbury Close, Chandler's Ford    (Pages 27 - 38) 

Single storey rear extension and one and two storey side extension (Ref. 
F/14/75642)

11. Planning Application - 9 Hiltingbury Close, Chandler's Ford    (Pages 39 - 50) 

Construction of two bed attached dwelling. (Ref. F/15/75899)

12. Planning Application - North Block, The Mall, 120 Winchester Road, Chandler's 
Ford    (Pages 51 - 64) 

Change of use of nightclub and offices to 9No. two bed flats and external 
alterations (Ref. F/14/75734)

13. Planning Appeals     

The Head of Legal and Democratic Services to report:-

That the following appeals have been lodged:-

52 Nichol Road, Chandler’s Ford – appeal against refusal to grant 
permission for a two storey front, side and rear extension with new vehicular 
access from Nichol Road. (Ref: F/14/75116). (LAC decision against officer 



recommendation). 

Brookdale Nursing Home, 31 Hursley Road, Chandler’s Ford - Appeal 
against the refusal of planning application for Reconfiguration of existing 
care home layout, removal of roof on single storey eastern wing of building, 
replacement with flat roof first floor to provide four additional bedrooms to 
care home, erection of new boundary treatment, laying of hardstanding 
(grasscrete) to provide additional staff parking & erection of timber shed. 
(Ref: F/14/75623)  (previously delegated decision).

14. Community Grants 2015/16 and other Financial Allocations    (Pages 65 - 74)

Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news -

Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 

updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Wednesday, 10 June 2015 at 7:00 pm

at The Dovetail Centre, Methodist Church, 
Winchester Road, Chandler's Ford, SO53 2GJ

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


This page is intentionally left blank



CHANDLER'S FORD AND HILTINGBURY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE

Wednesday, 21 January 2015  (7:00 pm – 8:30 pm)

PRESENT:

Councillor Holden-Brown (Chairman); Councillors A Broadhurst, Atkinson, 
Mrs Broadhurst, Grajewski, M Hughes, Olson and Pragnell

________________________________________

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY)

1. CHANGE OF VENUE

The Chair explained that, owing to there only being one substantial item 
for this meeting which could not be held over to the March meeting, a 
decision had been taken to relocate it to Eastleigh House on this occasion 
to save external venue hire and technical support costs.  The change of 
venue had been advertised in the local area but it was noted and 
appreciated that some Members expressed displeasure at moving the 
venue away from the Chandler’s Ford and Hiltingbury area.  The Chair 
confirmed that this was a one-off, and offered apologies to anyone 
inconvenienced by the move.

2. MINUTES

RESOLVED -

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 19 November 2014 be 
confirmed and signed by the Chair as a correct record.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor Pragnell declared an Interest in Item 7 (Mead Road/Park Road 
Waiting Restrictions Objection Report) as he owns property in Meadbrook 
Gardens.  He took no part in the discussion or voting thereon.

4. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

Steve Poole, Jackie Hill, Bryan Ridsdale and James Duguid all made 
representations to the Committee in respect of Hiltingbury Tennis Club.  
They explained that the courts were in increasingly poor condition and 
sought the Committee’s support to make improvements.  The courts had 
been built in 1972 and had last been resurfaced back in 1990.  They were 
very popular with the local community for both organised and non-
organised games.  The deterioration to the surface was now so bad, 

1

Agenda Item 1



though, that the Club representatives were concerned that people could 
get injured as a result of using the facility.  It was estimated that each of 
the four courts would cost £10,000 to resurface.  The representatives 
suggested that the New Homes Bonus grant could be utilised to assist, but 
the cost could also be offset by starting to charge for the facility via a key 
mechanism as in other areas.  It was noted that the intention was to 
transfer the ownership of the courts, along with the recreation ground as a 
whole, to the parish council in the near future.  As such, the 
representatives asked if the facility could be improved before the transfer 
took place.

The Chair thanked the representatives for attending and setting out the 
issues very clearly.  She confirmed that the matter would be looked into 
and that a considered response would be made in due course.

5. CHAIRMAN'S REPORT

The Chair welcomed Min Partner to the meeting, who was providing 
interim Local Area Co-ordinator support to the committee while an internal 
review was being conducted.

The Chair also advised that she would like Members to consider, as an 
urgent item, the Test Valley Borough consultation on the Great Covert 
planning application.  The Committee agreed that this should be taken as 
an additional item at the end of the meeting as it had implications for the 
Chandler’s Ford and Hiltingbury area.

6. AREA CO-ORDINATOR'S REPORT

Min Partner thanked the Committee for its warm welcome, and confirmed 
that she would be providing limited support while the internal review of 
Local Areas was being carried out.

7. MEAD ROAD/PARK ROAD AREA, CHANDLER'S FORD  -  WAITING 
RESTRICTIONS OBJECTION REPORT

The Committee considered the report of the Head of Transportation and 
Engineering which advised that new and amended waiting restrictions had 
been proposed in Mead Road, Park Road and Meadbrook Gardens in 
Chandler’s Ford. During the advertisement of the proposed Traffic 
Regulation Order one email supporting the proposals and ten objections 
were received. A further objection was received after the consultation 
period. The report therefore summarised the responses received and 
proposed a course of action as to how proceed with the proposals.

Following public participation, Members considered in detail the various 
components to the proposals.  It was felt that, despite the recommendation 
being made, the situation in Park Road would continue to be problematic 

2



and further consultation with residents was needed to address and 
alleviate outstanding concerns.  Members requested that a letter go from 
this Committee to the nearby gas company to follow up on the Chair’s 
recent visit to ask if their employees and visitors could not park their 
vehicles in this road as it was making the situation much worse.  With 
regard to the restrictions outside the play area in Mead Road, this situation 
should be closely monitored and officers re-consult residents as 
necessary.

RESOLVED -

(1) That the proposed ‘No Waiting Monday to Friday 10am-11am 
and 2pm-3pm’ restriction on Park Road between 2a and 19 
Park Road as shown in drawing TM01/01382/001 be not 
implemented; and

(2) The proposed ‘No Waiting at Any Time’ restriction on Mead 
Road at the junction near the play area be implemented as 
proposed in drawing TM01/01382/001.

(NOTES: (1) Four Members of the public raised concerns on issues and 
proposals contained within the report; and (2) Councillor Pragnell declared 
an Interest in this item as he owns property in Meadbrook Gardens.  He 
took no part in the discussion or voting thereon).

8. URGENT ITEM: RESPONSE TO THE GREAT COVERT PLANNING 
APPLICATION IN TEST VALLEY BOROUGH

The Chair had been made aware of a planning application to be 
considered by Test Valley Borough Council next month (reference: 
14/02620/OUTS) which was a proposal for outline permission for 300 
homes at Great Covert, North Baddesley.  The Chair was concerned that 
Eastleigh Borough Council had not been consulted on it, as it had 
significant implications for the Chandler’s Ford and Hiltingbury area in 
particular.  Members supported a proposal that a letter be sent from this 
Council and that initial enquiries be made with Hampshire County Council 
as to whether, if the application was approved, developers’ contributions 
would be forthcoming for roads and schools in this area.

RESOLVED –

(1) That this Committee write to Test Valley Borough Council 
objecting to the proposed scale of development at Great 
Covert, mindful of the impact it would have on Chandler’s Ford 
schools, roads and other amenities; and

(2) That consultation on significant (major) planning applications 
be raised as an item on the next Eastleigh / Test Valley Liaison 
Group agenda.

3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

CHANDLER'S FORD & HILTINGBURY Wednesday 25 March 2015 Case Officer Gary Osmond 
 
 
SITE: 237 Winchester Road, Chandler's Ford, Eastleigh, SO53 

2DX 
 
Ref. F/14/75684 Received: 05/12/2014     (30/01/2015) 
 
 
APPLICANT: Mr Anthony Newberry & Mrs Angela Northover 

 
PROPOSAL: Erection of 2No. five bedroom dwellings with detached 

carports and associated parking, cycle store and 
landscaping following demolition of existing 

  
AMENDMENTS: 08/01/2015 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
 
REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION 
 

 
 

 
 

 
CONDITIONS AND REASONS: 
 
(1)  The proposed development, by virtue of the resulting plot sizes, as well as the 

siting, spacing, form and design of the dwellings proposed and loss of trees, 
would not be respectful to the existing pattern of development within, nor the 
nature and appearance of the Hiltingbury and Hocombe Park Special Policy 
Area, to the detriment of its character and visual amenity. As such the application 
is considered to be contrary to saved Policies 59.BE and 181.LB of the Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011), Policy DM1 of the Submitted Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 and the Council’s Supplementary Planning 
Documents ‘Quality Places’ and ‘Chandler’s Ford and Hiltingbury Character Area 
Appraisals’. 

  
(2)  Insuffiicent information has been submitted to demonstrate that the proposed 

development, including the demolition of the existing dwelling will not result in 
any harm to bats, which are a protected species, or the destruction of a breeding 
or resting place used by bats. As such the application is considered to be 
contrary to to saved Policy 25.NC of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 
(2001-2011) and Policy DM9 of the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 
2011-2029. 

  

5

Agenda Item 8



 

 

Note to Applicant: The application was refused following the assessment of the 
following plans: PO1, PO1A, PO2 Rev B, PO3, PO4, PO5 Rev A, PO6, PO7 Rev 
A, PO8 Rev A, PO9, PO10, PO11, PO12 & PO13. 

 
In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework, Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive approach to the handling 
of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever possible, a positive 
outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a timely manner. 

 
All references to the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan relates to the 
Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014, comprising:  
-              Revised Pre-submission Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, 

published February 2014; and  
-              Schedule of Proposed Minor Changes, submitted to the Secretary of 

State in July 2014 
  

 
 

Report: 
 

This application has been referred to Committee by Councillors Atkinson, 
Grajewski, Hughes and Olson. 

 
Description of Application 

 
1. This application seeks approval for the construction of a pair of two storey five 

bedroom detached dwellings, each with a detached double car port, parking 
areas, cycle store and amenity space, following demolition of the existing 
dwelling on site. 

 
Site Area & Residential Density 

 
2. The application site is approximately 2316 square metres in area including 

access drive or 1954 square metres not including driveway. With the two 
dwellings proposed this equates to between 8 and 10 dwellings per hectare, 
with the average density in the immediate area being approximately 5 to 6 
dwellings per hectare. 

 
Topography, Trees & Boundary Treatment 

 
3. The site is generally flat and level but there is a very slight rise from 

Winchester Road along the access drive up to the main part of the application 
site. Mature trees are present on every site boundary, some of which are 
subject to preservation orders, the most prominent of which are those along 
the access drive, a group at the south-eastern end of the site, as well as a 
number along the north-eastern and north-western boundaries. Within the site 
are quite a number of ornamental and fruit trees. The majority of the site 
boundaries are marked by mature planting and trees, although there is 1.8 – 
2.0 metre timber fence along part of the north-east boundary where there is a 
gap in the planting adjacent to No.1 Thornbury Heights. 

6



 

 

 
Site Characteristics 

 
4. The present property is a two storey detached house dating from the 1920s in 

an ‘Arts and Crafts’ inspired style. It has been extended to the northern side 
but still retains many of its original character features, such as its front door, 
stained glass windows and timber panelling internally. While it is in need of 
some refurbishment it is by no means in a dilapidated state and can still easily 
be lived in. 

 
5. The property is set well back from Winchester Road behind No.239 and is 

accessed by a long driveway which is flanked on either side by trees and 
mature boundary planting, giving the feel of a private county lane which opens 
onto a gravel parking area in front of the house. To the front of the house is a 
group of mature trees, some of which are subject to preservation orders and 
which give the feel of a woodland glade. 

 
6. To the rear is a good size garden which consists of mainly ornamental and 

fruit trees, as well as other mature planting which is a little overgrown at 
present. There is also a shed and summerhouse. Whilst being within a 
suburban area and close to a main road and motorway, the site still has a feel 
of being private and secluded. 

 
Character of Locality 

 
7. The surrounding area is made up of large well-spaced detached mainly two 

storey dwellings on large generally well screened plots. Most of the houses 
date from the 1920s and 30s and are in a simple ‘Arts and Crafts’ style, 
although there are a number of more modern additions and in-fills. The area 
has also been identified as being a Special Policy Area due to its attractive 
character. 

 
Relevant Planning History 

 
8. Other than a two storey side extension which was approved in 1995 the 

application dwelling has no other planning history. However, the neighbouring 
plot to the front, No.239 Winchester Road, has had some relevant recent 
planning history. 

 
9. In 2011 an application to construct an additional dwelling between Nos.237 & 

239 within the rear garden of 239 was submitted (F/11/69061) but was 
withdrawn, as it was to be recommended for refusal. This application was 
followed by a revised application in 2012 (F/12/70213) which was refused and 
later dismissed at a planning appeal. 

 
10. Also of some relevance is a concurrent application for a detached car port 

(F/15/75945) which is also due to be determined at the same Chandler’s Ford 
and Hiltingbury Local Area Committee as this application for the new 
dwellings. 

 

7



 

 

Representations Received 
 

11. A total of three representations have been received raising the following 
issues and concerns: 

 
• Loss of trees. 
• Overlooking and loss of privacy from the first floor bay windows to the rear. 
• This is an opportunity to better manage trees and boundary planting and 

set height limits. 
 

Consultation Responses 
 

12. Head of Countryside & Trees (Tree Services Manager) – “In regard to the 
proposed planning application I have assessed the proposal in correlation with 
the Arboricultural Development Statement dated October 2014 and can 
confirm that I raise no objection. There will the requirement to remove trees to 
facilitate the proposed development but these trees are either graded U or C 
in regard to tree quality following the recommendations of the current British 
Standard : Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction.  

 
13. Concern has been raised about the removal of trees to the front of the current 

property. Although I do not necessarily agree with the U categorisation for 
some of these trees, they are at best C grade. It is generally considered that 
Category A (high quality) and Category B (moderate quality) trees are 
considered potential constraints on any development proposal, whereas those 
belonging to Category C (low quality) are considered to be generally less 
important. Category U trees are in such poor condition that they are 
considered unsuitable for retention as they cannot realistically be retained as 
living trees in the context of the current land use for longer than 10 years. 
Therefore, these trees can be effectively discounted in the context of the 
planning process.” 

 
14. Conditions with regards to tree protection measures are also recommended. 

 
15. Head of Countryside & Trees (Biodiversity Officer) – Object. The 

ecological assessment submitted with the application has found evidence of 
bats roosting in the building. Further survey information is required to establish 
the bat species and type of roost present. Once these have been undertaken, 
the impact of the development can be assessed and a suitable mitigation 
strategy can be proposed. The application should not be determined until this 
information has been provided. 

 
16. Head of Transportation & Engineering – No objection. Sufficient parking is 

proposed for each property, as is on-site turning space. A bin collection point 
at the end of the driveway is also proposed 

 
17. Chandler’s Ford Parish Council – No response received. 

 
Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site 

 

8



 

 

• Within Built-up Area Boundary 
• Within Established Residential Area 
• Within Special Policy Area 

 
Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies 

 
• Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 saved Policies: 28.ES, 

34.ES, 59.BE, & 181.LB 
 
• Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029, July 2014 Policies: 

DM1, DM2, DM9, DM24, DM25 & DM29 
 
18. The Submitted Local Plan comprises: the Revised Pre-submission Eastleigh 

Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, published February 2014; and the Schedule 
of Proposed Minor Changes, submitted to the Secretary of State in July 2014. 

 
Supplementary Planning Documents 

 
• Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 2011) 
• Supplementary Planning Document: Chandler’s Ford and Hiltingbury 

Character Area Appraisals – Hiltingbury and Hocombe Park Special Policy 
Area (January 2005) 

• Supplementary Planning Document: Residential Parking Standards 
(January 2009) 

• Supplementary Planning Document: Environmentally Sustainable 
Development (March 2009) 

 
National Planning Policy Framework 

 
19. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that applications for 

planning permission must be determined in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Para 14 sets out a 
general presumption in favour of sustainable development and states that 
development proposals which accord with the development plan should be 
approved without delay. Where the development plan is absent, silent, or 
relevant policies are out-of-date planning permission should be granted unless 
the adverse impacts of the development would outweigh the benefits; or 
specific policies in the Framework indicate development should be restricted 
(paragraph 14). Local plan policies that do not accord with the NPPF are now 
deemed to be “out-of-date”. The NPPF requires that due weight should be 
given to relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of 
consistency with the NPPF. In other words the closer the policies in the plan 
accord to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be 
given. 

 
20. It goes on to state in paragraph 56 that “The Government attaches great 

importance to the design of the built environment. Good design is a key aspect 
of sustainable development, is indivisible from good planning, and should 
contribute positively to making places better for people.” Paragraph 60 states 
that “policies and decisions should not attempt to impose architectural styles 

9



 

 

or particular tastes and they should not stifle innovation, originality or 
initiative…” It goes on to state that “It is, however, proper to seek to promote 
or reinforce local distinctiveness.” 

 
21. Paragraph 53 of the NPPF states that “Local planning authorities should 

consider the case for setting out policies to resist inappropriate development 
of residential gardens, for example where development would cause harm to 
the local area.” 

 
Policy Commentary 

 
22. The above policies combine to form the criteria against which this application 

will be assessed with particular regard to the relevant planning policies and 
principle of that proposed, its layout and design, impact on trees, the 
residential amenity of neighbouring properties, parking and highway safety, 
environmental sustainability, impact on the street scene and character of the 
Special Policy Area and upon nature conservation. 

 
Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background 

 
23. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states:- 

 
24. "If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 

determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must 
be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise." 

 
25. In this case policy issues for consideration include: 

 
Policy 

 
26. The application site lies within the urban edge where the basic principle of 

development is considered to be acceptable, with any formal planning 
approval being based upon the exact nature, design and impact of that 
proposed being considered appropriate and in accordance with the relevant 
local plan policies and supplementary guidance. The most relevant policy in 
this case is saved Policy 59.BE of the Local Plan which requires 
development to take full and proper account of the context of the site 
including the character and appearance of the locality and be appropriate in 
mass, scale, materials, layout, design and siting. It also requires a high 
standard of landscape design, have a satisfactory means of access and 
layout for vehicles, cyclists and pedestrians, make provision for refuse and 
cycle storage and avoid unduly impacting on neighbouring uses through 
overlooking, loss of light, loss of outlook, and noise and fumes. Also of 
relevance is Policy DM1 of the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 
2011-2029, July 2014, which essentially reiterates the above requirements. 

 
27. Saved Policy 181.LB relates specifically to the ‘Hiltingbury and Hocombe 

Park’ Special Policy Area (SPA). This policy states that the sub-division or 

10



 

 

redevelopment of plots will not be accepted if it would result in any 
proposed plot being significantly smaller than those in the immediate 
vicinity, and involve the loss or prejudice the retention of existing healthy 
mature trees. Proposals must also be compatible with the Arcadian 
character of the locality and must not involve back land or tandem 
development and also must be accompanied by a detailed planting 
scheme. 

 
Principle 

 
28. While the application site lies within the urban edge it is also within the 

Hiltingbury and Hocombe Park SPA where saved Policy 181.LB of the 
adopted Local Plan, as well as a number of other policies are relevant. This 
policy is intended to protect the attractive character of this part of Hiltingbury 
and sets out a number of requirements or criteria for new development, the 
first of which is that the subdivision or redevelopment of plots will not be 
considered acceptable if the size of the proposed plot/s would be “significantly 
smaller than those in the immediate vicinity of the site”. While it is 
acknowledged that the two plots proposed are not small, this is not what the 
policy requires. If “the immediate vicinity” is taken to mean those plots which 
immediately adjoin the application site and which are also within the SPA, – 
i.e. Nos.235 to 243 Winchester Road and No.1 Thornbury Heights – the plots 
proposed equate to 56% of the average site area of the immediate 
neighbouring plots. However, it could be argued that this is not a sufficient 
sample in order to establish a reasonable average. That being the case, if a 
wider sample is taken, - Nos.223 to 247 Winchester Road and Nos.1 to 3 
Thornbury Heights – the proposed plots sizes equate to 63% - 64% of this 
average plot size. 

 
29. While planning decision should not be based entirely on statistical figures, 

which can be manipulated to better suit one argument over another, the policy 
is clear as to what is required of new development with regards to resulting 
plot size. At between 54% and 64% of the average plot size in the surrounding 
SPA, it would be hard to argue that these figures are not “significantly smaller 
than those in the immediate vicinity of the site”. Were they 90% or even 80% 
of the size then perhaps this would be acceptable, but at less than two thirds 
the size they are significantly smaller and do not therefore meet the first 
requirement of saved Policy 181.LB of the adopted Local Plan. 

 
Trees 

 
30. The second requirement of Policy 181.LB is that proposals “do not involve 

the loss, or prejudice the retention of existing healthy mature trees on the 
site”. The submitted scheme does propose the loss of a number of trees 
within the application site, although those around its boundaries and which 
are subject to Tree Preservation Orders are to be retained. The trees to be 
lost are a number of ornamental and fruit trees within the rear garden, as 
well as a number of sizable Bay trees within the site frontage. 

 

11



 

 

31. While there is no real concern with regards to the loss of the ornamental 
and fruit trees, the loss of the Bays to the site frontage will have a quite 
significant impact upon the character and feel of this part of the site and its 
immediate surroundings, which currently has an attractive semi-wooded 
feel. However, these trees are not the best of examples and are certainly 
not worthy of any preservation order. That being the case they could be 
removed without requiring any consent from the Council and without an 
objection from the Borough’s Tree Services Manager it would be hard to 
substantiate a reason for refusal purely on the grounds of loss of trees. 

 
Layout & Design 

 
32. The third requirement of Policy 181.LB is that “the design, siting, size, scale 

and type of the proposed development is compatible with the Arcadian 
character of the locality and does not involve back land or tandem 
development.” With regards to back land or tandem development, while the 
present dwelling is set behind its neighbour, No.239 Winchester Road, 
which fronts directly onto the street, the application dwelling is one of the 
original houses which were built in the 1920s. This part of the requirement 
is not therefore relevant in this instance. 

 
33. With regards to the design of the dwellings proposed, while not poor enough 

to warrant a refusal in normal circumstances, it is considered that they are not 
of sufficiently high quality for the SPA. They are neither modern nor traditional 
in their appearance and certainly do not reflect the attractive and simple Arts 
and Crafts inspired style of the original Winchester Road properties, of which 
No.237 is one. Those proposed would result in an uncomfortable mix of 
hipped and gabled roof forms and projections. The sizable areas of glazing 
and some of the fenestration also appear to sit uncomfortably with the 
intended use of traditional materials and detailing. 

 
34. It is acknowledged that the current house is in need of some refurbishment 

and modernisation but this has meant that it retains many of its original 
features both internally and externally, as well as the original character that 
many of its contemporaries have lost. It is also of a character and design 
which is well suited to the wooded feel of the site and its surroundings. This is 
not to say that any replacement dwelling/s must follow the existing character 
and style of the present dwelling, in fact paragraph 60 of the NPPF states that 
“policies and decisions should not attempt to impose architectural styles or 
particular tastes and they should not stifle innovation, originality or initiative…” 
although it goes on to state that “It is, however, proper to seek to promote or 
reinforce local distinctiveness.” In the case of the SPA, whatever design is put 
forward should be respectful to the wooded and Arcadian character of the 
area. 

 
35. A further characteristic of the area is that dwellings are well spaced and have 

a fairly generous setting, usually positioned well away from site boundaries, 
except for the odd garage. Those proposed would be less than two metres 
away from the site boundaries and only four metres apart. While this may be 
acceptable in a modern estate type development or an area of denser 

12



 

 

suburban development, this is not a characteristic of the SPA where dwellings 
are spaced much further apart. 

 
36. Overall therefore, it is considered that the proposed development does not 

meet the third criteria of saved Policy 181.LB of the adopted Local Plan. 
 

37. The final criteria of Policy 181.LB is that proposals should be accompanied by 
a detailed planting scheme. Some indicative landscaping and planting is 
shown on the submitted site layout plan but no details are given. However, in 
this instance it is felt that these details could be secured via a suitably worded 
condition should the application be approved. 

 
Residential Amenity 

 
38. Due to the large plot sizes, well-spaced properties and good natural 

screening within the SPA, there are not usually any issues with regards to 
adverse impact upon the amenity of neighbouring properties in terms of 
loss of privacy, light or outlook. However, concerns have been raised by 
occupiers of No.1 Thornbury Heights that the first floor bay windows to the 
rear of the proposed dwellings would allow sideways views into their 
property. Given the depth of the bay and proximity to the site boundary 
some overlooking towards No.1 could occur. Equally, there would be the 
potential for overlooking between the proposed dwellings and into the rear 
garden of No.235a Winchester Road. While this may be the case, it could 
be easily remedied by ensuring that the side panes of these bays are 
obscure glazed or solid panels, thereby preventing any possible overlooking 
and loss of privacy. 

 
39. While the issue of disturbance during construction has not been raised in 

this instance, it has proved to be a problem in the past with other 
development in the area. However, the amenity of surrounding properties 
could be protected during the construction process through appropriate 
conditions to restrict working hours, noise, etc. 

 
Parking & Highway Safety 

 
40. The proposed frontage parking areas and car ports can easily 

accommodate the minimum of three off-road parking spaces for each 
dwelling as required by the Council’s ‘Residential Parking Standards’ SPD. 
The application is therefore considered to comply with this element of saved 
Policy 59.BE of the current Local Plan and Policy DM24 of the Submitted 
Local Plan. 

 
41. Concerns were raised as part of the applications at No.239 Winchester 

Road with regards to increased vehicle movements and potential resulting 
highway safety issues. This was assessed at the time by the Borough’s 
Head of Transportation and Engineering and the Planning Appeal 
Inspector, both of whom did not raise this as a significant issue. Given that 
this application would again only result in one additional dwelling, it would 

13



 

 

be hard to argue that the vehicle movements associated with this would 
have any adverse highway safety implications. 

 
Environmental Sustainability 

 
42. The Council’s ‘Environmentally Sustainable Development’ SPD requires all 

new dwellings to meet a specific minimum of code level of the Code for 
Sustainable Homes depending on when the application is submitted, 
together with a number of other mandatory requirements on water and 
energy conservation. In this instance, the code level required is 4 and a pre-
assessment estimator report has been submitted with the application to 
demonstrate that the proposed dwellings would be capable of meeting this. 
The proposal therefore accords with the SPD, saved Policy 34.ES of the 
adopted Local Plan and Policy DM2 of the Submitted Local Plan. 

 
Street Scene & Area Character 

 
43. The proposed dwelling due to its set back position behind other 

neighbouring development will have no impact upon the street scene of 
Winchester Road but as has been set out above there are a number of 
significant concerns with regards to the proposed scheme’s impact upon 
the character of the Hiltingbury and Hocombe Park SPA. These concerns 
principally relate to the resulting plot sizes in comparison to neighbouring 
plots and the area average, as well as the space available for an 
appropriate setting and spacing to ensure that the proposed dwellings sit 
comfortably and respectfully within the existing character of the SPA, 
together with their design and appearance and the resulting loss of trees. 
This being the case, the proposals are not considered to comply with the 
requirements of saved Policies 59.BE and 181.LB of the adopted Local 
Plan, Policy DM1 of the Submitted Local Plan, or the Council’s ‘Quality 
Places’ and ‘Chandler’s Ford and Hiltingbury Character Area Appraisals’ 
SPDs. 

 
Nature Conservation 

 
44. Following an initial objection from the Borough’s Biodiversity Officer an 

Ecological Assessment was submitted in support of the planning 
application. This initial assessment of the application site and dwelling 
found evidence of the house having been used as a potential bat roost, 
although it was unclear if it is still in use. The assessment therefore 
recommends that further survey work, including emergence surveys needs 
to be undertaken to establish if this is the case. However, this survey work 
cannot be undertaken during the winter months when bats are hibernating. 

 
45. Without any evidence to establish if bats, which are a protected species, 

are using the existing dwelling the Local Planning Authority cannot grant 
planning approval in case it would result in the destruction of a breeding or 
resting place. That being the case, this lack of evidence is considered to be 
contrary to saved Policy 25.NC of the current Local Plan and Policy DM9 of 

14



 

 

the Submitted Local Plan and will form one of the recommended reasons 
for refusal. 

 
46. With regards to other biodiversity issues, the proposal is not considered to 

result in a likely significant impact on a European Protected site (SPA, SAC 
or Ramsar). A HRA (Habitat Regulations Assessment) screening was not 
required for this development as it falls outside the designated zone of 
impact. 

 
47. The site falls outside the 5.6km buffer zone for the Solent SPA. A contribution 

is not therefore required to mitigate the increased recreational pressure 
resulting from the development. 

 
Planning Obligations / Considerations 

 
48. The ministerial statement of 28th November 2014 from The Minister of State 

for Housing and Planning, and subsequent changes to the National Planning 
Practice Guidance (NPPG) has increased the threshold for when tariff based 
planning obligations can be required by new development. This means that 
developments of ten units or less (and which have a maximum combined floor 
space of no more than 1000 square metres) will be exempt from the need to 
provide tariff based planning obligations or affordable housing. The two 
dwellings proposed would have a total floor area of approximately 700 square 
metres and would therefore be exempt from the need to provide planning 
obligations. 

 
Other Material Considerations 

 
49. Also of relevance is the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, 

July 2014.  While not yet adopted it does carry weight by virtue of being 
intended as the current local plan’s replacement.  With regards to this 
application, the new policies essentially echo those of the current plan and are 
not considered to affect the recommendation put forward. 

 
Conclusion 

 
50. For the reasons set out above, the application is recommended for refusal. 

 
 
 

15



 

 

30

56.4m

251

21
7

TH
O

RN
BU

RY
 W

O
O

D

THORNBURY HEIGHTS

80

23
9

22
7

88

22
5

ROAD

22
1

23
1

21
9

23
3a

5

Shelter

24
7

24
3

THORNBURY W
OOD

20

23
5a

Westgate House

15

3

Tennis Courts

40

WINCHESTER

23
7

22
3

43

23
3

1

22
9

7

23
1a

24
1

23
5

© Crown copyright and database rights (2015) Ordnance Survey (LA100019622)

F/14/75684

Scale:

Map Ref:

Date:

1:1250

11/03/2015

SU4422SE

Title:

237 Winchester Road

16



 

 

CHANDLER'S FORD & HILTINGBURY Wednesday 25 March 2015 Case Officer Gary Osmond 
 
 
SITE: 237 Winchester Road, Chandler's Ford, Eastleigh, SO53 

2DX 
 
Ref. F/15/75945 Received: 30/01/2015     (27/03/2015) 
 
 
APPLICANT: Mr Newberry & Mrs Northover 

 
PROPOSAL: Erection of a detached oak framed open bay double car 

port 
  
AMENDMENTS:  
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
 
REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION 
 

 
 

 
 
CONDITIONS AND REASONS: 
 
(1) Insufficient information has been provided to demonstrate that the location of the 

proposed development will not result in any harm to or loss of trees on and 
adjacent to the application site, which are an important natural feature and 
characteristic of the Hiltingbury and Hocombe Park Special Policy Area, and 
which would be to the detriment of its character and visual amenity. As such the 
application is considered to be contrary to saved Policies 59.BE and 181.LB of 
the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011), Policy DM1 of the 
Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 and the Council’s 
Supplementary Planning Documents ‘Quality Places’ and ‘Chandler’s Ford and 
Hiltingbury Character Area Appraisals’. 

  
Note to Applicant: The application was refused following the assessment of the 
following plans:  PO1, PO1A, P02 & P03.  

 
In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework, Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive approach to the handling 
of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever possible, a positive 
outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a timely manner. 

 
All references to the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan relates to the 
Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014, comprising:  
-              Revised Pre-submission Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, 

published February 2014; and  

17

Agenda Item 9



 

 

-              Schedule of Proposed Minor Changes, submitted to the Secretary of 
State in July 2014 

  
 

 
Report: 

 
This application has been referred to Committee in the interests of clarity and 
because there is a concurrent application relating to the same site. 

 
Description of Application 

 
1. This application seeks approval for the construction of a detached two bay 

double car port which would be positioned in the eastern corner of the 
application site. 

 
Topography, Trees & Boundary Treatment 

 
2. The site is generally flat and level but there is a very slight rise from 

Winchester Road along the access drive up to the main part of the application 
site. Mature trees are present on every site boundary, some of which are 
subject to preservation orders, the most prominent of which are those along 
the access drive, a group at the south-eastern end of the site, as well as a 
number along the north-eastern and north-western boundaries. Within the site 
are quite a number of ornamental and fruit trees. The majority of the site 
boundaries are marked by mature planting and trees, although there is 1.8 – 
2.0 metre timber fence along part of the north-east boundary where there is a 
gap in the planting adjacent to No.1 Thornbury Heights. 

 
Site Characteristics 

 
3. The present property is a two storey detached house dating from the 1920s in 

an ‘Arts and Crafts’ inspired style. It has been extended to the northern side 
but still retains many of its original character features, such as its front door, 
stained glass windows and timber panelling internally. While it is in need of 
some refurbishment it is by no means in a dilapidated state and can still easily 
be lived in. 

 
4. The property is set well back from Winchester Road behind No.239 and is 

accessed by a long driveway which is flanked on either side by trees and 
mature boundary planting, giving the feel of a private county lane which opens 
onto a gravel parking area in front of the house. To the front of the house is a 
group of mature trees, some of which are subject to preservation orders and 
which give the feel of a woodland glade. 

 
5. To the rear is a good size garden which consists of mainly ornamental and 

fruit trees, as well as other mature planting which is a little overgrown at 
present. There is also a shed and summerhouse. Whilst being within a 
suburban area and close to a main road and motorway, the site still has a feel 
of being private and secluded. 

18



 

 

 
Character of Locality 

 
6. The surrounding area is made up of large well-spaced detached mainly two 

storey dwellings on large generally well screened plots. Most of the houses 
date from the 1920s and 30s and are in a simple ‘Arts and Craft’ style, 
although there are a number of more modern additions and in-fills. The area 
has also been identified as being a Special Policy Area due to its attractive 
character. 

 
Relevant Planning History 

 
7. Other than a two storey side extension which was approved in 1995 the 

application dwelling has no other planning history. However, there is a 
concurrent application for a the construction of a pair of detached five 
bedroom dwellings following the demolition of the existing house (F/14/75684), 
which is also due to be determined at the same Chandler’s Ford and 
Hiltingbury Local Area Committee as this application for the car port. 

 
Representations Received 

 
8. At the time or writing no representations have been received which relate to 

this application. 
 

Consultation Responses 
 

9. Head of Countryside & Trees (Tree Services Manager) – “I currently have a 
holding objection regarding the above planning application. The submitted, 
detailed Arboricultural Development Statement refers to a previous application 
for the demolition of the existing house and construction of two new dwellings 
and differs to what is proposed in the most recent application. I need to be 
satisfied that the proposed new drive and garage will not harm the significant 
trees both on and adjacent to the site. The proposal would seem to indicate 
that no trees will be required to be felled to incorporate the drive and car port. 
If this is possible, it is a positive move but no evidence as to how this can be 
achieved has been submitted.” 

 
10. Head of Transportation & Engineering – No objection. 

 
11. “The car port itself is not specifically required for parking, with adequate space 

remaining on the extensive gravel driveway to more than accommodate needs 
in accordance to the EBC Parking Standards. 

 
12. As such, no highway implications are anticipated as a result of the proposals. 

 
13. On a design / practicality note however, it would be suggested that if a car port 

is required, it would perhaps be better located on-site. The chosen location is 
not particularly well chosen in terms of manoeuvring space, with a relative 
long reversing movement on a narrow section of driveway being required to 
either access or egress the facility. It is suggested that for convenience, a 

19



 

 

location to the east of the house or at the end of the driveway (south of the 
house) may be preferential in terms of access?” 

 
14. Chandler’s Ford Parish Council – No comments have been received. 

 
Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site 

 
• Within Built-up Area Boundary 
• Within Established Residential Area 
• Within Special Policy Area 

 
Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies 

 
• Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 saved Policies: 59.BE & 

181.LB 
 

• Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029, July 2014 Policies: 
DM1 & DM24 

 
15. The Submitted Local Plan comprises: the Revised Pre-submission Eastleigh 

Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, published February 2014; and the Schedule 
of Proposed Minor Changes, submitted to the Secretary of State in July 2014. 

 
Supplementary Planning Documents 

 
• Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 2011) 
• Supplementary Planning Document: Chandler’s Ford and Hiltingbury 

Character Area Appraisals – Hiltingbury and Hocombe Park Special Policy 
Area (January 2005) 

• Supplementary Planning Document: Residential Parking Standards 
(January 2009) 

 
National Planning Policy Framework 

 
16. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that applications for 

planning permission must be determined in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Para 14 sets out a 
general presumption in favour of sustainable development and states that 
development proposals which accord with the development plan should be 
approved without delay. Where the development plan is absent, silent, or 
relevant policies are out-of-date planning permission should be granted unless 
the adverse impacts of the development would outweigh the benefits; or 
specific policies in the Framework indicate development should be restricted 
(paragraph 14). Local plan policies that do not accord with the NPPF are now 
deemed to be “out-of-date”. The NPPF requires that due weight should be 
given to relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of 
consistency with the NPPF. In other words the closer the policies in the plan 
accord to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be 
given. 

 

20



 

 

Policy Commentary 
 

17. The above policies combine to form the criteria against which this application 
will be assessed with particular regard to the principle of that proposed, its 
layout and design, impact on trees, the residential amenity of neighbouring 
properties, parking and the character of the Special Policy Area. 

 
Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background 

 
18. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states:- 

 
19. "If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 

determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must 
be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise." 

 
20. In this case policy issues for consideration include: 

 
Principle 

 
21. The application site lies within the urban edge where the basic principle of 

development is considered to be acceptable, with any formal planning 
approval being based upon the exact nature, design and impact of that 
proposed being considered appropriate and in accordance with the relevant 
local plan policies and supplementary guidance. The most relevant policy in 
this case is saved Policy 59.BE of the Local Plan which requires 
development to take full and proper account of the context of the site 
including the character and appearance of the locality and be appropriate in 
mass, scale, materials, layout, design and siting. It also requires a high 
standard of landscape design, have a satisfactory means of access and 
layout for vehicles, cyclists and pedestrians, make provision for refuse and 
cycle storage and avoid unduly impacting on neighbouring uses through 
overlooking, loss of light, loss of outlook, and noise and fumes. Also of 
relevance is Policy DM1 of the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 
2011-2029, July 2014, which essentially reiterates the above requirements. 

 
22. Saved Policy 181.LB related specifically to the ‘Hiltingbury and Hocombe 

Park’ Special Policy Area (SPA). This policy states that the sub-division or 
redevelopment of plots will not be accepted if it would result in any 
proposed plot being significantly smaller than those in the immediate 
vicinity, involve the loss or prejudice the retention of existing healthy mature 
trees. Proposals must also be compatible with the Arcadian character of the 
locality and must not involve back land or tandem development and also 
must be accompanied by a detailed planting scheme. 

 
23. In this instance the reference within saved Policy 181.LB to plot size and 

back land development is not relevant. However, the proposed 
development does need to meet the other requirements of the policy, i.e. 

21



 

 

the loss of trees and being compatible with the Arcadian character of the 
area. 

 
Layout & Design 

 
24. The third requirement of Policy 181.LB is that “the design, siting, size, scale 

and type of the proposed development is compatible with the Arcadian 
character of the locality”. 

 
25. In terms of the proposed car port’s size, scale and design there are no 

particular concerns. It is not excessive in size or scale and its timber clad 
sides and tiled roof would fit in well with the semi-wooded Arcadian 
character of the SPA. However, there are concerns with regards to its siting 
and the potential resulting impact upon trees. 

 
Trees 

 
26. The second criterion of Policy 181.LB states that proposals should “not 

involve the loss, or prejudice the retention of existing healthy mature trees 
on the site”. While the submitted scheme does not propose the loss of any 
trees, it does propose to position the car port within the root protection area 
of a number of trees and thread a new section of driveway between the 
trees to the site frontage, again within the root protection area of a number 
of trees, some of which are subject to preservation orders. 

 
27. While it may be technically possible to construct both the car port and 

driveway without having any adverse impact upon these trees, no 
information to demonstrate exactly what is proposed or how this would be 
achieved has been submitted with the planning application. As such, it 
cannot be guaranteed that no damage to these trees would occur. 

 
28. Without this information to demonstrate that the proposal will not “prejudice 

the retention of existing healthy mature trees on the site”, the application is 
considered to be contrary to saved Policies 59.BE and 181.LB of the 
adopted Local Plan, Policy DM1 of the Submitted Local Plan and the 
Council’s Supplementary Planning Documents ‘Quality Places’ and 
‘Chandler’s Ford and Hiltingbury Character Areas’. 

 
Residential Amenity 

 
29. Due to the large plot sizes, well-spaced properties and good natural 

screening within the SPA, there are not usually any issues with regards to 
adverse impact upon the amenity of neighbouring properties in terms of 
loss of privacy, light or outlook. In this instance the only relevant amenity 
issue to consider is its resulting visual impact. Given its relatively modest 
scale and proposed position, it will have no adverse impact upon the 
amenity of any neighbouring properties. 

 
Parking 

 

22



 

 

30. The existing frontage parking areas in front and to the side of the house can 
easily accommodate the minimum of three off-road parking spaces required 
by the Council’s ‘Residential Parking Standards’ SPD. There is also an 
existing attached garage to the northern end of the house but this is a little 
small for modern cars to easily park in, meaning that there is no covered 
parking on the site to protect vehicles from things like tree sap and bird 
droppings. 

 
31. While there is no objection to the erection of a car port, as has been 

mentioned above, there are concerns within regards to its proposed 
location. Not only could this result in damage to trees or have an adverse 
impact upon their health, but it would also be rather difficult to easily 
access. Not only would cars have to thread between trees but without any 
turning area adjacent to the car port, drivers would have to reverse some 15 
to 20 metres either into or out of the car port from the existing driveway and 
parking area. Not only would this be rather inconvenient but it also raises 
further concerns that trees may be damaged by cars hitting them or driving 
over roots. 

 
32. It is unclear as to why this location has been chosen when there are two 

much more obvious and convenient locations on the site frontage. These 
are either to the east in front of the house at the end of the current parking 
area where there are no significant trees, or to the south at the side of the 
house where there is an existing parking area directly opposite the main 
driveway. Both of these locations are unlikely to have any adverse impact 
upon trees and have scope to provide appropriate turning space. 

 
Area Character 

 
33. With regards to the character of the SPA, the construction of the car port 

proposed would not usually raise any concerns. However, without any 
certainty that it and its proposed location would have any adverse impact 
upon trees, the concern remains that it could result in their loss, which in 
turn would have a negative impact upon the character and appearance of 
the SPA. As such the application is considered to be contrary to saved 
Policies 59.BE and 181.LB of the adopted Local Plan, Policy DM1 of the 
Submitted Local Plan and the Council’s Supplementary Planning 
Documents ‘Quality Places’ and ‘Chandler’s Ford and Hiltingbury Character 
Areas’. 

 
Other Material Considerations 

 
34. Also of relevance is the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, 

July 2014.  While not yet adopted it does carry weight by virtue of being 
intended as the current local plan’s replacement.  With regards to this 
application, the new policies essentially echo those of the current plan and are 
not considered to affect the recommendation put forward. 

 
Conclusion 

 

23



 

 

35. For the reasons set out above, the application is recommended for refusal. 
 

24



 

 

 
 
 

30

56.4m

251

21
7

TH
O

RN
BU

RY
 W

O
O

D

THORNBURY HEIGHTS

80

23
9

22
7

88

22
5

ROAD

22
1

23
1

21
9

23
3a

5

Shelter

24
7

24
3

THORNBURY W
OOD

20

23
5a

Westgate House

15

3

Tennis Courts

40

WINCHESTER

23
7

22
3

43

23
3

1

22
9

7

23
1a

24
1

23
5

© Crown copyright and database rights (2015) Ordnance Survey (LA100019622)

F/15/75945

Scale:

Map Ref:

Date:

1:1250

11/03/2015

SU4422SE

Title:

237 Winchester Road

 

25



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
25/03/2015 
 
APPLICATIONS RECOMMENDED FOR DECISION 
 
CHANDLER'S FORD & HILTINGBURY Wednesday 25 March 2015 Case Officer David 
Huckfield 
 
 
SITE: 1 Hiltingbury Close, Chandler's Ford, Eastleigh, SO53 5NY 
 
Ref. F/14/75642 Received: 27/11/2014     (03/03/2015) 
 
 
APPLICANT: Mr Matthew Stillwell 

 
PROPOSAL: Single storey rear extension and one and two storey 

side extension 
  
AMENDMENTS: 02/03/2015, 12/03/2015, 13/03/2015 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
 
PERMIT 
 

 
 

 
 

 
CONDITIONS AND REASONS: 
 
(1)  The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance 

with the following plans numbered: Loc-01, Blo-01, Blo-02, Blo-03, HTC-
003 Revision P2 (Existing South Elevation), HTC-003 Revision P2 
(Existing East Elevation), HTC-003 Revision P1 (Existing West 
Elevation), HTC-003 Revision P1 (Existing North Elevation), HTC-003 
Revision P2 (Proposed East Elevation), HTC-003 (Proposed North 
Elevation), HTC-003 Revision P2 (Proposed South Elevation), HTC-003 
Revision P1 (Proposed West Elevation), HTC-002 Revision P2 (Existing 
Floor Plans First Floor), HTC-002 Revision P1 (Existing Floor Plans 
Ground Floor), HTC-002 Revision P2 (Proposed Floor Plans First Floor), 
HTC-002 Revision P1 (Proposed Floor Plans Ground Floor). Reason: For 
the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

  
(2)  The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years 

from the date of this decision. Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

27

Agenda Item 10



 

 

  
(3)  The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of 

the development hereby permitted shall match in type, colour and texture 
those used on the existing dwellinghouse. Reason: To ensure a 
satisfactory visual relationship between the new development and the 
existing. 

  
(4)  No burning of materials obtained by site clearance or any other source 

shall take place during the demolition, construction and fitting out 
process. Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby 
properties. 

  
(5)  No construction, demolition or deliveries to the site shall take place during 

the construction period except between the hours of 0800 to 1800 
Mondays to Fridays or 0900 to 1300 on Saturdays and not at all on 
Sundays or Bank Holidays.   Reason:  To protect the amenities of the 
occupiers of nearby dwellings. 

  
(6)  No driven pilling shall take place on the development hereby permitted. 

Reason: To protect the amenity of the occupiers of the nearby dwellings. 
  
(7)  No parking of vehicles, storage or use of machinery, equipment or 

materials shall take place underneath the crown spread of the protected 
trees within the application site.To retain and protect the existing trees 
which form an important part of the amenity of the locality. 

  
Note to Applicant: It is considered that, subject to compliance with the 
conditions and any obligations attached to this permission, the proposed 
development is acceptable because it will not materially harm the 
character of the area, the amenity of neighbours or highway safety and it 
is in accordance with the policies and proposals of the development plan, 
comprising the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011, and 
after due regard to all other relevant material considerations including the 
National Planning Policy Framework and the Submitted Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014 the Submitted Local Plan 
comprising: the   Revised Pre-submission Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 
2011 - 2029, published February 2014; and the Schedule of Proposed 
Minor Changes, submitted to the Secretary of State in July 2014’, the 
local planning authority is of the opinion that permission should be 
granted. 

 
The following development plan saved policies and emerging draft local 
plan policies are relevant to this decision and the conditions attached to it: 

 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review [2001-2011], saved Policies 43.ES, 
44.ES, 59.BE. 

 
Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014, the 
Submitted Local Plan, Policies DM1, DM4, DM24. 

 

28



 

 

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework, Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive approach 
to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever 
possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in 
a timely manner. 

  
Note to Applicant: This planning permission does not convey the right for 
the development to encroach over, under or on land which is not within 
your ownership, without the consent of the landowner. 

  
Note to Applicant: The Environment Agency have advised that the land 
owner of the application site is the 'riparian owner' for the stretch of 
culverted watercourse that passes through the site and therefore has a 
responsibility for its maintenance. As such, the land owner may wish to 
undertake a condition survey pre and post-construction in order to 
ascertain its condition and whether there have been any impacts during 
construction. 

  
 

 
Report: 
 
This application has been referred to Committee by Councillors Olson, 
Grajewski and Atkinson.  
 
Description of Application 
 
1. The application seeks approval for the construction of a first floor and two-

storey side extension as well as a single storey rear extension. The 
development is to provide additional living space at the property’s ground 
and first floor levels and to allow for the increase from a two to a four 
bedroom dwelling. The side extension will adjoin the property’s southern 
elevation and extend above its existing flat roof garage which is to be 
retained as part of the proposals. It measures 5.044m in width and will sit 
flush with the property’s existing front and rear elevations, with the current 
ridge height being maintained and carried across to form a gable-end. 

 
2. The single storey rear extension has a flat-roof and measures 2.958m in 

depth, 8.308m in width and approximately 2.75m in height. It is to be 
positioned on the shared boundary with the adjoining dwelling, No. 2 
Hiltingbury Close. In the interests of clarity, the single storey extension 
does not constitute permitted development as stated on the application 
form. As it projects beyond the side elevation of the dwelling and has a 
total width greater than half that of the original property, it requires 
planning permission.  

 
Site characteristics  
 
3. No. 1 Hiltingbury Close is a two-bedroom end of terrace property 

constructed of buff brick with white fenestration. There is a bay window to 

29



 

 

the property’s principal elevation at ground floor level with shutters to the 
windows above which, along with the window boxes beneath them, are a 
distinctive feature of the properties within the street.  

 
4. The dwelling is set on a good sized plot at the junction of Hiltingbury Close 

and Hiltingbury Road. The property’s amenity space is split between an 
area to the rear of the building which is enclosed by a mixture of timber 
fencing and brick walls, as well as a much larger area at the southern end 
of the plot which is surrounded by a low-level wall surmounted by timber 
fencing, with hedging in behind this. In terms of its topography, the site 
slopes gradually down to the west in line with the general gradient of this 
section of Hiltingbury Road. 

 
5. The property has a single flat-roof garage to its southern side which 

adjoins that of the neighbouring dwelling, No. 2 Hiltingbury Close. Further 
off-road parking is provided by a hardstanding on the property frontage 
with the remainder of this being laid to lawn.  

 
Trees 
 
6. There is a mature Willow Tree in the south-eastern corner of the 

application plot which is subject to a Tree Preservation Order (TPO 249). 
The proposed development falls outside of the crown spread and root 
protection area of this tree and it is not considered that it will be impacted 
upon by the proposals. There are further smaller trees to the front of the 
property and within the amenity area to its southern side which are also 
subject to a Tree Preservation Order (TPO 58). Owing to their positioning 
relative to the development, again it is not considered that they will be 
affected. 

 
Character of Locality 
 
7. The surrounding area is predominantly residential in nature with 

Hiltingbury Close consisting of three terraces originally formed of four two-
storey properties constructed of buff brick and being of a uniform design 
and house type. Dwellings have predominantly green open frontages 
which contribute to a wide and open feel to the street.  
 

8. A number of properties within the Close have had previous extensions, 
notably these include a two-storey addition to No. 12 which sits opposite 
the application site, as well as first floor extensions of greater width to Nos. 
8 and 9 further along the road. There is also a new dwelling which is under 
construction to the northern side of No. 9 Hiltingbury Close, with this being 
the subject of a revised current planning application.  

 
Relevant Planning History 
 
1 Hiltingbury Close: 
 

30



 

 

• F/04/52849: Construction of 2 storey side extension (PERMIT – 
07/02/2005) 

• F/14/73876: Retention of 1.8m high boundary fence (REFUSED – 
21/02/2014 – APPEAL DISMISSED – 14/07/2015) 

 
8 Hiltingbury Close: 
 

• F/13/71946: First floor side extension (PERMIT – 19/04/2013) 
 
9 Hiltingbury Close: 
 

• EAB5665: Erection of extensions (PERMIT – 07/09/1967) 
• F/14/74100: Construction of 2 bed attached dwelling (PERMIT – 

27/05/2014) 
• F/15/75899: Construction of two bed attached dwelling (CURRENT 

APPLICATION) 
 
12 Hiltingbury Close: 
 

• Z/12112/001: Two storey side and single storey rear extension 
(PERMIT – 20/06/1989) 

 
Representations Received 
 
9. Three letters of representation have been received from the occupiers of 

the adjoining property. These raise concerns over the impact of the 
extension on the structural integrity of the foundations of their property as 
well as their garage which adjoins that of the application dwelling. They 
also set out a requirement for access to their driveway and to their garage 
for the purposes of maintenance, and highlight the need for a Party Wall 
Agreement.  

 
Consultation Responses 
 

• Chandlers Ford Parish Council – no response received.  
 

• Environment Agency – no objection following the receipt of additional 
drawings to show the location of the culverted watercourse and the 
relationship of the foundations of the extension to it. Recommended a 
note to applicant to bring to their attention their responsibility for the 
maintenance of the culverted watercourse.  

 
Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site 
 

• Within Built-up Area Boundary 
• Within Established Residential Area 
• Within Environment Agency Flood Zones 2 and 3 and within an 8m 

Main River Buffer.  
• Subject to Tree Preservation Orders 58 and 249. 

31



 

 

• Within the Hiltingbury Road West Character Area.  
 
Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies 
 

• Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011, Saved Policies: 
43.ES & 44.ES (Flooding and erosion), 59.BE (Promoting good 
design).  
 

• Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029, July 2014 
Policies: DM1 (General criteria for new development), DM4 (Flood 
risk), DM24 (Parking). (The Submitted Local Plan comprises: the 
Revised Pre-submission Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, 
published February 2014; and the Schedule of Proposed Minor 
Changes, submitted to the Secretary of State in July 2014). 

 
Supplementary Planning Documents 
 

• Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 2011) 
• Supplementary Planning Document: Residential Parking Standards 

(January 2009) 
• Supplementary Planning Document: Chandlers Ford and Hiltingbury 

Character Areas (January 2005) 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
10. Of particular relevance to this application are the following paragraphs of 

the National Planning Policy Framework: 
 

• Paragraph 17 which sets out the core land-use planning principles that 
should underpin decision taking and which include that planning should 
“always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings”.  
 

• Paragraph 56 which states that “the Government attaches great 
importance to the design of the built environment. Good design is a key 
aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from good planning, 
and should contribute positively to making places better for people.” 
 

• Paragraph 57 stipulates that planning decisions should aim to ensure 
that developments “function well and add to the overall quality of the 
area”, “respond to local character and … reflect the identity of local 
surroundings and materials” and “are visually attractive as a result of 
good architecture”.  
 

Policy Commentary 
 
11. The above policies and guidance combine to form the criteria against 

which this application will be assessed with particular regard to the 
principle of the development proposed, layout and design, highway 

32



 

 

matters, flood risk, and the impact of the proposals on the character of the 
area.  

 
Comment on representations received 
 
12. The matters raised by the occupier of the adjoining property in respect of 

the need for unimpeded access to their garage and for a Party Wall 
Agreement, as well as in relation to the impact of the proposed 
development on the structural integrity of their garage and the foundations 
of their property, are not material planning considerations and instead 
would be civil matters between themselves and the applicant as the 
respective land owners.  

 
Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background 
 
13. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states: 

"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must 
be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise." 

  
14. In this case, the policy issues for consideration include: 
 
Principle:  
 
15. The application site lies within the urban edge where the basic of 

development is considered to be acceptable, with any formal planning 
approval being based upon the exact nature, design and impact of that 
proposed being considered appropriate and in accordance with the 
aforementioned relevant local plan policies and supplementary guidance. 
 

16. The most relevant adopted Local Plan policies in this case are: 
 

17. Saved Policy 43.ES which states that development will only be permitted 
within areas at risk of flooding where: it is demonstrated that the site is 
adequately defended from flooding; or, a risk assessment demonstrates 
that measures incorporated into the scheme would prevent either life 
being endangered or an unacceptable likelihood of damage to property; 
and, it does not harm the integrity or maintenance of a flood defence 
structure, or inhibit the maintenance of a watercourse for the purpose of 
minimising flood risk, or increase flood risks elsewhere. 
 

18. Saved Policy 44.ES which states that proposals for extensions, within 
areas at risk of flooding will be refused where they would increase the 
number of people at risk of flooding or would result in an unacceptable 
loss of floodplain storage. 
 

19. Saved Policy 59.BE which requires development to take full and proper 
account of the context of the site including the character and appearance 

33



 

 

of the locality and be appropriate in mass, scale, materials, layout, design 
and siting. It also requires a high standard of landscape design, have a 
satisfactory means of access and layout for vehicles, cyclist and 
pedestrians, make provision for refuse and cycle storage and avoid 
unduly impacting on neighbouring uses through overlooking, loss of light, 
loss of outlook, noise and fumes. 

 
Layout, design and impact on the street scene and character of the area 

 
20. The proposed extensions are considered to be acceptable in respect of 

their layout and design. The single storey rear extension is of a modest 
depth at just under 3m with its flat roofed nature serving to minimise its 
potential bulk and scale. In itself, it is not disproportionate to the host 
dwelling in terms of its footprint and being situated to the rear of the 
property, it will have no notable impact upon the street scene.  
 

21. The first floor and two-storey side extension is, it is acknowledged, fairly 
sizeable in terms of its width and indeed when viewed cumulatively with 
the single storey extension to the rear, the development will represent a 
relatively significant increase in the overall floorspace of the dwelling. In 
this instance, however, it is not considered that this will be to the 
detriment of the character of the host building or that of the Hiltingbury 
Close street scene, and the proposals accord with the guidance principles 
for new development contained within the Chandler’s Ford and Hiltingbury 
Character Area Appraisal in this regard.  
 

22. The side extension is sympathetic to the existing property in respect of its 
design and visual appearance with it continuing the existing terrace and 
replicating the external materials, ridge height, gable-ended nature and 
architectural features of the adjoining buildings. As a result of the large 
size of the application plot, the property will also maintain a good sized 
area of amenity space to the rear and side of the dwelling such that the 
proposals are not considered to result in overdevelopment. The extent of 
the site will also allow for the maintaining of a notable degree of spacing 
between the southern side elevation of the extended dwelling and the 
boundary of the plot with Hiltingbury Road such that the development will 
not appear unduly prominent or visually obtrusive to this street scene. 
Indeed, the side extension will serve to neatly bring the two-storey built 
form along the western side of Hiltingbury Close in line with that of the 
opposing side of the street.  
 

23. It is also noted and of material relevance that a side extension of a similar 
width and scale has been constructed at No. 8 at the opposite end of 
Hiltingbury Close with this having been granted planning permission in  
April 2013 (Planning Ref. F/13/71946). The originally uniform terraces of 
four within Hiltingbury Close have also been extended and increased in 
width elsewhere within the road, most notably to the northern side of No. 
9, first through the addition of a first floor extension to the property and 
more recently by way of the addition of a new dwelling which is currently 

34



 

 

under construction.  
 

24. The proposals are, therefore, for the reasons given considered to accord 
with the requirements of Saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted Local Plan 
and associated supplementary guidance in respect of their layout and 
design as well as their impact upon the street scene and wider area 
character.  
 

Residential amenity 
 

25. The proposed development will not impact unduly upon the amenity of 
neighbouring residential properties. The proposed single storey rear 
extension whilst being positioned such that is abuts the shared boundary 
with the adjoining dwelling, No. 2 Hiltingbury Close, is flat roofed in nature 
and not excessive in terms of its depth. As such, it is not considered that it 
will be unacceptably overbearing, nor will it unduly reduce the levels of 
outlook from or light received to the rear windows of this neighbouring 
property, with the proposals complying with the tests for rear extensions 
as set out in the Council’s adopted Quality Places Supplementary 
Planning Document in this regard.  
 

26. As a result of the siting of the application property on a corner plot at the 
junction of Hiltingbury Close and Hiltingbury Road as well as the 
positioning of the first floor and two-storey side extension away from the 
property’s boundaries, it is not considered that this element of the 
proposals will be in any way overbearing nor will it affect the light to or 
outlook from neighbouring residential properties.  
 

27. In respect of the matter of overlooking, the presence of rear facing first 
floor windows in the side extension as originally proposed had the 
potential to result in a loss of privacy for the occupiers of No. 102 
Hiltingbury Road which lies to the west of the site and which has a first 
floor side facing window in close proximity to the shared boundary. Views 
into this window would have been available from the window proposed to 
serve Bedroom 3 which as originally proposed lay opposite it. In order to 
adequately mitigate against this issue, the applicant has submitted 
amended drawings relocating this window to the southern elevation of the 
property which faces onto the adjacent highway, Hiltingbury Road.  
 

28. For the reasons given therefore and following the receipt of the above 
mentioned amended drawings it is considered that the proposals accord 
with the requirements of Saved Policy 59.BE as well as the associated 
supplementary guidance in relation to the matter of their impact upon 
neighbouring residential amenity. 

 
Highway matters 
 
29. As the dwelling will increase from a two to a four-bedroom property, in 

accordance with the Council’s adopted Residential Parking Standards 
SPD there is a requirement for three off-road car parking spaces to be 

35



 

 

provided. The dwelling currently has parking available for a vehicle within 
its single garage which is to be retained as part of the proposals, as well 
as a further two spaces on its driveway to the immediate front of this. As 
such, there is adequate existing parking provision to meet the 
requirements of the aforementioned SPD and the development is 
therefore considered to comply with Saved Policy 59.BE (v.) of the 
adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan which requires the provision of a 
satisfactory means of access and layout for vehicles.  

 
Flood risk 
 
30. There is a culverted watercourse which runs through the rear garden of 

the property. As a result of the presence of this culvert, the site lies within 
the Environment Agency’s designated Flood Zones 2 and 3 as well as 
within an 8m main river buffer. The Environment Agency were consulted 
as part of the application and, following the receipt of additional drawings 
to show the exact location of the culverted watercourse in relation to the 
proposed extension, as well as to demonstrate that it will not be impacted 
upon by its foundations, they have raised no objection on the grounds of 
flood risk.  
 

31. The proposals are therefore considered to comply with the requirements 
of Saved Policies 43.ES and 44.ES in this regard.  

 
Planning obligation considerations 
 
32. There are no planning obligation requirements in respect of this 

application.  
 
Other material considerations 
 
33. Also of relevance is the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 

2029, July 2014.  While not yet adopted it does carry weight by virtue of 
being intended as the current local plan’s replacement.  With regards to 
this application, the new policies essentially echo those of the current plan 
and are not considered to affect the recommendation put forward. 

 
Conclusion 
 
34. The proposals are considered to be acceptable in respect of their layout, 

design and impact on both the street scene and area character, as well as 
upon the amenity of the occupiers neighbouring residential properties. 
They are also satisfactory in terms of the considerations of highway 
matters, and flood risk. Accordingly the development is deemed to be 
accord with the relevant Development Plan policies, adopted 
supplementary planning documents and national planning policy and the 
application is therefore recommended for approval subject to the 
conditions as listed at the outset of this report.  

 

36



 

 

 
 
 
 

9

45

50.6m

22

14

4

13

12

1

7

5

47

2

OA
KW

OO
D 

RO
AD

31

94

8

2

HILTINGBURY ROAD

19

8

Court

13

9

1

HILTINGBURY
HI

LT
IN

G
BU

RY

9

5

12

7

11

102

CLO
SE

OAKW
OOD

10

46.3m

4

6

12

1

12

BE
EC

H 
CL

OS
E

GORDON ROAD

CLOSE

57

Oakwood

3

1

11

© Crown copyright and database rights (2015) Ordnance Survey (LA100019622)

F/14/75642

Scale:

Map Ref:

Date:

1:1250

11/03/2015

SU4322SE

Title:

1 Hiltingbury Close

37



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

CHANDLER'S FORD & HILTINGBURY Wednesday 25 March 2015 Case Officer Steve 
Nangreave 
 
 
SITE: 9 Hiltingbury Close, Chandler's Ford, Eastleigh, SO53 5NY 
 
Ref. F/15/75899 Received: 26/01/2015     (23/03/2015) 
 
 
APPLICANT: Mr Derick Forsyth 

 
PROPOSAL: Construction of two bed attached dwelling. 
  
AMENDMENTS:  
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
 
PERMIT 
 

 
 

 
 
CONDITIONS AND REASONS: 
 
(1)  The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with the 

following plans numbered: 13:004:08 REV H, 13:004:10, 013:004:07, 13:004:01 
REV G and 13:004:09 REV F. 

  Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
  
(2)  The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years from the 

date of this decision.   Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

  
(3)  Before any equipment, materials or machinery are brought onto the site for the 

purposes of development, a pre-commencement site meeting between the Tree 
Officer, Arboricultural Consultant and Site Manager shall take place to confirm 
the protection of trees on and adjacent to the site in accordance with the 
Arboricultural Report prepared by Alderwood Consulting Limited, Ref: 
D1348AIAL3 dated the 13th February 2014. The tree protection shall be 
positioned as shown on the approved Tree Protection Plan 13:004:09 rev E, 
submitted with the letter prepared by Alderwood Consulting Limited, Ref: 
D1348AIAL4 dated 23 April 2014, before any equipment, materials or machinery 
are brought on to the site for the purposes of the development.  The tree 
protection shall be retained until the development is completed and nothing shall 
be placed within the fencing, nor shall any ground levels be altered or 
excavations made without the written consent of the Local Planning Authority.  
This condition shall not be discharged until an arboricultural supervision 
statement, the contents of which are to be discussed and agreed at the pre-
commencement meeting, is submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 

39

Agenda Item 11



 

 

Authority on completion of development.  Reason: To retain and protect the 
existing trees which form an important part of the local amenity 

  
(4)  If any of the six trees identified in the associated revised Arboricultural Report 

produced by Alderwood Consulting Limited - D1348AIAL6 do not survive. Then 
details of the size, species, location and proposed time of planting of 
replacement trees shall  be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority and tree planting shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.   Reason: To conserve the character of the area. 

  
(5)  No development shall start until details and samples of the materials to be used 

in the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby permitted 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance in the interest of the 
amenities of the area. 

  
(6)  No development shall start until details for the sustainable disposal of surface 

water and disposal of foul sewerage from the development hereby permitted 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The development shall then accord with the approved details. Reason: To 
ensure satisfactory provision of foul and surface water drainage. 

  
(7)  No development shall start until a Code for Sustainable Homes level 4 interim 

stage certificate and sustainability report, demonstrating how all of the essential 
requirements of the Eastleigh Borough Council adopted Supplementary Planning 
Document ‘Environmentally Sustainable Development’ are to be met, have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Reason: To 
ensure the development meets the requirements of the adopted Supplementary 
Planning Document ‘Environmentally Sustainable Development’. 

  
(8)  The development shall not be occupied unless agreed in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority until a Code for Sustainable Homes level 4 final stage 
certificate and sustainability report, highlighting how all of the essential 
requirements of the Eastleigh Borough Council adopted Supplementary Planning 
Document ‘Environmentally Sustainable Development’ have been met, have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: To ensure the development meets the requirements of the adopted 
Supplementary Planning Document ‘Environmentally Sustainable Development’. 

  
(9)  The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the parking area 

has been provided in accordance with the approved plans and thereafter 
permanently retained and used only for the purpose of accommodating private 
motor vehicles incidental to the enjoyment of the dwelling house as a residence.  
Reason: To make provision for off street parking for the purpose of highway 
safety. 

  
(10) No development shall start until details of the access including any footway  

crossing have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

40



 

 

Authority. The development shall not be occupied until the approved details have 
been fully implemented.  Reason: To ensure satisfactory vehicular access. 

  
(11) No development shall start until a scheme of work detailing the extent and type 

of piling proposed has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall accord with the approved details. 
Reason:  To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties. 

  
(12) No construction, demolition or deliveries to the site shall take place during the 

construction period except between the hours of 0800 to 1800 Mondays to 
Fridays or 0900 to 1300 on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or Bank 
Holidays. Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby dwellings. 

  
(13) No burning of materials obtained by site clearance or any other source shall take 

place during the demolition, construction and fitting out process.  Reason:  To 
protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties. 

  
(14) Development shall not begin until a scheme of works to deal with dust from the 

site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The agreed scheme shall then be implemented and retained in 
accordance with the agreed scheme of works.  Reason:  To protect the amenities 
of the occupiers of nearby properties. 

  
Note to Applicant: It is considered that, subject to compliance with the conditions 
and any obligations attached to this permission, the proposed development is 
acceptable because it will not materially harm the character of the area, the 
amenity of neighbours or highway safety and it is in accordance with the policies 
and proposals of the development plan, comprising the Eastleigh Borough Local 
Plan Review [2001-2011], and after due regard to all other relevant material 
considerations including the National Planning Policy Framework and the 
Revised Pre-Submission Eastleigh Borough Local Plan [2011-2029] the local 
planning authority is of the opinion that permission should be granted.  

  
The following development plan saved policies and emerging draft local plan 
policies are relevant to this decision and the conditions attached to it: 

 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011, saved Policies [28.ES 43.ES 
59.BE 100.T 101.T 104.T 147.OS 191.IN].  

 
Revised Pre-Submission Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 Policies [DM1 
DM2 DM4 DM23 DM24 DM25 DM29 DM32 DM35 DM37].  

 
In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework, Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive approach to the handling 
of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever possible, a positive 
outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a timely manner.  

  
Under the Town and Country Planning [England] Regulations 2012, a fee is now 
required for Discharge of Condition Applications. N.B. Conditions not fully 
discharged, invalidate the planning permission. 

41



 

 

  
Note to Applicant: The permission does not authorise the undertaking of any 
works involving excavations in the carriageway, footway or verge. A road 
opening permit must be obtained from Hampshire Highways, HCC call centre 
number 0845 6035633. 

  
Note to Applicant: Letter dated 15th August 2014 details the discharge of 
conditions 3,  4,  5, 9, 10 & 13 of planning permission F/14/74100. Accordingly, 
condition 3, 4, 5,9, 10 & 13 of this permission are discharged  Condition 6 & 7 not 
discharged. 

  
 

 
Report: 
 
1. This application has been referred to Committee on the basis of the previous 

applications being determined by the Local Area Committee. In addition to 
requests from Councillors Grajewski, Hughes and Pragnell that the application 
be determined by the Local Area Committee.    

 
Description of application 
 
2. Members will recall at their meeting on the 26th March 2014 approving an 

application for full planning permission to allow the construction of a two 
bedroom dwelling attached to number 9 Hiltingbury Close. Forming an end of 
terrace property situated north of the existing run of dwellings. A private 
garden amenity area is proposed to the rear being east of the proposed 
house, with two parking spaces north of the flank wall. The detailing and 
proportions of the design for the proposed house reflecting those of the 
existing dwellings in Hiltingbury Close.    

 
          The house is substantially completed. Unfortunately, during the construction 

phase a number of adjustments having taken place as follows; 
 

A. Front wall of the new dwelling moved back from the pavement by 
220mm and as a result the rear of the building set further into existing 
garden area. 

 
B. The existing two doors to the ground floor of the rear elevation   
    have been amalgamated to create one larger door opening. 

 
C.Existing dining area made wider at ground floor and indent to side  
    elevation reduced in depth. 

 
D. Due to requirement to create a party wall between the new dwelling and 

the existing garage owned by the occupiers of number 10 Hiltingbury 
Close, the building is 150mm longer than approved.   
 

E. Realignment of eastern boundary by 100mm inside the legal boundary.                  
 

42



 

 

The site and its surroundings 
 
3. Hiltingbury Close is located to the north of Hiltingbury Road between 

Hocombe Road to the west and Lakewood Road to the east.  The application 
building is located on the east side of the close. Hiltingbury Close being a 
development of two storey terraced and linked properties constructed in the 
1970’s. The style of design is “modern Georgian” and the Close has an 
architectural integrity derived from the compact nature of the housing area. 
The existing facing materials are brown roof tiles, buff bricks and white painted 
timber windows. Situated at the end of the terraces are single storey garages.  

 
4. The application dwelling forms an end of terrace unit, having been extended 

and modified. Part of the site forms a garage for number 10 Hiltingbury Close.  
 
5. The properties are within a sylvan setting with mature oak, beech and birch 

trees prevalent.       
 
Relevant planning history 
 
6. The following planning proposals are pertinent to this application; 
 
7. EAB/5665 – erection of rear extension at number 9 Hiltingbury Close.  

Permitted subject to condition, 7th September 1967 
 
8. F/13/72747 – construction of 3 bed attached dwelling at number 9 Hiltingbury 

Close. Application withdrawn 12th September 2013. 
 
9. F/13/73373 – Construction of 2 bed attached dwelling at number 9 Hiltingbury 

Close. Application refused 27th January 2014. 
 
10. F/14/74100 – Construction of two storey attached dwelling at number 9 

Hiltingbury Close. Permitted subject to conditions, 23rd May 2014.  
 
Representations received  
 
11. This planning proposal has not generated one letter of objection from the 

residents of number 94 Hiltingbury Road. This correspondence highlights the 
implications of the revisions to the extant planning permission, resulting in 
further encroachment into the tree root protection areas of some of the 
protected trees. The consequence of the amenity space and rear elevation 
habitable rooms of the proposed development, by reason of their proximity to 
protected trees. Will spending three out of four seasons in perpetual shade. In 
view of the revisions confirmation parking for two cars can be achieved. The 
scheme as built as resulted in privacy being compromised, not able to sit out 
on patio without being overlooked. The proposal results in overdevelopment of 
the site and threatens the protected trees. It is visually intrusive and results in 
significantly greater loss of privacy.       

 
Consultation responses  
 

43



 

 

12. Head of Transportation & Engineering – The original application drew a no 
objection on highway grounds, explaining the existing 9 Hiltingbury Close will 
lose parking as a result of the proposal, the space it retains will continue to 
conform to the Council’s parking standards. The new dwelling will also 
conform to standards with two parking spaces outlined on the plans. Additional 
cycle storage units are also provided. No other impact on the highway 
infrastructure will result.  

            
13. In terms of this submission the area of the development over and above the 

permitted planning permission F/14/74100, is not significant for any highway 
impacts resulting from the proposal.  

 
14. In terms of highway matters conditions are requested to be imposed on any 

planning permission to cover foul and surface water drainage, parking and 
vehicular access arrangements.  

 
15. Head of Countryside & Trees – An assessment of the approved    
          drawings from the previous application and the proposed scheme as 
          built and confirmation there are no arboricutural objection to these  
          amendments. The necessary tree protection measures were  
          implemented during construction and have afforded the trees adequate  
          protection and the long term future of the trees should not be altered.    
 
16. Head of Housing and Environmental Health – No objection subject to the 

imposition of planning conditions for amenity protection reasons.   .   .     
Policy context:  designation applicable to site 
 
• Within Built-Up Area Boundary 
• Within Established Residential Area 
 
Development plan saved policies, emerging local plan policies and 
Supplementary Planning Documents 
 
• Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) Saved Policies – 28.ES 

(Waste Collection/Recycling) 43.ES (Flooding and Erosion) 59.BE 
Development Criteria) 100.T (Minimise Travelling) 101.T (Infrastructure 
Contributions) 104.T (Parking) 147.OS (Public Open Space) 191.IN (Social 
Infrastructure) 

 
• Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014, (the 

Submitted Local Plan) comprising:  
 Revised Pre-submission Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, published 

February 2014; and  
 Schedule of Proposed Minor Changes, submitted to the Secretary of State in 

July 2014’ policies DM1 (Development Criteria) DM2 (Sustainable 
Development) DM4 (Flood Risk) DM23 (Transport) DM24 (Parking) DM25 
(Residential Development) DM29 (Internal Space Standards) DM32 (Public 
Open Space) DM35 (Community Infrastructure) DM37 (Funding Infrastructure) 

 
• Supplementary Planning Guidance: Quality Places 

44



 

 

• Supplementary Planning Document; Chandler’s Ford and Hiltingbury 
Character Area – Hiltingbury West 

• Supplementary Planning Document; Planning Obligations 
• Supplementary Planning Document; Environmentally Sustainable 

Development 
• Supplementary Planning Document; Residential Parking Standards 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
17. National Planning Policy Framework highlights that good design is a key 

aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from good planning, and 
should contribute positively to making places better for people” (paragraph 56) 
and goes on to state that decisions should aim to ensure that developments 
will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short 
term but over the lifetime of the development (paragraph 58). 

 
Assessment of proposal: Development plan and / or legislative background 
 
Preamble 
 
18. Members will recall at their meeting on the 26th March 2014 approving an 

application for full planning permission to allow the construction of a two 
bedroom dwelling attached to number 9 Hiltingbury Close. As highlighted 
during the construction of the permitted house, a number of adjustments 
having taken place as follows; 

 
A. Front wall of the new dwelling moved back from the pavement by 

220mm and as a result the rear of the building set further into existing 
garden area. 

 
B. The existing two doors to the ground floor of the rear elevation have 

been amalgamated to create one larger door opening. 
 

C. Existing dining area made wider at ground floor and indent to side 
elevation reduced in depth. 

 
D. Due to requirement to create a party wall between the new dwelling and 

the existing garage owned by the occupiers of number 10 Hiltingbury 
Close, the building is 150mm longer than approved.   

 
E. Realignment of eastern boundary by 100mm inside the legal boundary.       

 
19. Whilst it may be suggested individually these modifications are fairly minor, 

cumulatively these revisions are significant to be materially   different from the 
extant planning permission F/14/74100. Accordingly,   this submission 
represents a new application to regularise these anomalies.     

 
 Retrospective Application  
 

45



 

 

20. The National Planning Policy Framework says that enforcement action is 
discretionary, and that local planning authorities should act proportionately in 
responding to suspected breaches of planning control. Section 73A of the 
Town and County Planning Act 1990 specifically provides that a granting of 
planning permission may relate to development carried out before the date of 
the application’ (paragraph 6). Furthermore, an application cannot be refused 
on grounds that it is retrospective. When considering the development regard 
has to be had to Government guidance and the policies contained within the 
Development Plan. 

 
Policy 
 
21.      Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states:  “If 

regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the Planning Acts the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise”. 

 
22. Saved Policy 59.BE of the extant local plan and emerging Policy DM1 of the 

Revised Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 both require new 
development to take full and proper account of the context of the site including 
the charcter and appearance of the locality and are appropriate in mass, 
scale, materials, layout, design and siting. It also requires a high standard of 
landscape design, have a satisfactory means of access and layout for 
vehicles, cyclist and pedestrian, make provision for refuse and cycle storage 
and avoid unduly impacting on neighbouring uses through overlooking, loss of 
light, and loss of outlook, noise and fumes.  

 
23. Furthermore, the Hiltingbury Road West section of the Chandler’s Ford and 

Hiltingbury Charcter Areas requires “the design of any new building work, 
including extensions, is compatible with the character of adjacent good quality 
properties and fits well into the overall street-scene.”  

 
Principle 
 
24. The application site lies within the Urban Edge and within an established 

residential area where the principle of development is acceptable, with any 
formal approval being dependant on the details and impacts of the proposal 
being considered acceptable.    

 
Layout/Design and its impact on the street scene 
 
25. Hiltingbury Close, due to its adopted architectural design style and compact 

nature creates an attractive area of housing that is characterised by its 
distinctive pattern of development and the spatial characteristics of the street 
scene. In particular the open spaces provided by the single storey garages 
situated at the end of the three runs of terraced properties that creates the 
interest in Hiltingbury Close.  

 

46



 

 

26. The two bed attached dwelling is produced at ground floor by extending the 
current “gym/store” to the north and east to provide independent door 
entrance leading to open plan kitchen area and living/dining room. The first 
floor accommodation consisting of two bedrooms, both with en suite facilities. 
This upper storey floor space being above the extended ground floor foot print.  

 
27. In terms of the wider street scene for Hiltingbury Close, the dwelling  closes 

the open space at first floor level. However, taking account of the siting of the 
application dwelling at the end of this terrace of houses with a heavily treed 
landscape garden area further north. Will retain an open setting, framing this 
extended housing terrace and preserve the spatial characteristics in the street 
scene. The constructed dwelling reflecting the character and appearance of 
this locality. Accordingly, in compliance with the thrusts of Central and Local 
Planning policies and local Character Areas document aimed at resisting 
inappropriate development causing harm to local areas.  

 
28. The built dwelling addresses the matters of design by reflecting the host 

terrace of houses with similar roof configuration, matching fenestration with 
window shutters and the inclusion of a bay window.                                                               
Finally, eaves windows have been included in the rear elevation to produce a 
more aesthetically pleasing façade. On the basis of similar windows being 
present on this rear section of the terrace there is no unacceptable harm to the 
wider public realm.      

 
Residential Amenity 
 
29. Taking account of the siting and detailing of the house in the context of its 

relationship to surrounding development, there is not considered to be any 
unacceptable harm to the amenities currently enjoyed by the occupiers of 
nearby properties. On the basis of similar windows being present on this rear 
section of the terrace and the relationship to the extreme rear garden area of 
number 94 Hiltingbury Road there is no unacceptable harm to the amenities of 
the occupier of this house.  

 
30. In terms of the domestic garden area provided for the new dwelling is 

restricted. This needs to be evaluated in the context of the current rear garden 
arrangements for all the houses that comprises Hiltingbury Close. The depth 
and width of the garden area is comparable to the existing amenity areas for 
the houses in Hiltingbury Close. 

 
Highway Matters 
 
31. Taking a lead from the consultation response from the Head of Transportation 

and Engineering the proposed house meets the stipulated two car parking 
spaces per dwelling located off road. There are no concerns raised on the 
basis of the current road network accommodating the additional vehicle 
movements generated by this planning proposal.  

 
32. Saved Policy 100.T and emerging Policy DM23 expects development to be 

sited close to, or well served by, public transport, cycling and walking. The 

47



 

 

application site is within the Urban Edge, minutes from a regular bus service, 
cycle routes and is accessible by foot. The site is therefore considered to be 
accessible.   

 
33. Saved Policy 104.T and emerging Policy DM24 states permission will only be 

granted for development that provides adequate off-highway parking provision 
and is reinforced by the Parking Standards Supplementary Planning 
Document In line with these standards as highlighted, the proposal includes 
two parking spaces, Whilst the proposed house meets the required parking 
provision, the current property number 9 Hiltingbury Close being a three bed 
house requires three on-site parking spaces. There being two provided 
formally on site in the form of the garage and the parking area forward of the 
garage. Whilst not formally marked out there is the capacity to provide an 
additional space on a section of the currently lawned from garden area. 
Overall the proposal complies with highway policy requirements.    

 
Trees 
 
34. Notwithstanding the amendments, the Head of Countryside and Trees has 

confirmed this irregularity will not threaten the life expectancy of nearby trees. 
It should be acknowledged that the consult arboriculturist for the applicant has 
re-visited the site to appraise the revisions effect on the root protection zones 
of the existing mature trees. Concluding that this is not an issue.  

 
Flood Zone 
 
35. There are no flood zone implications with an area of flood zone located to the 

west side of Hiltingbury Close. These dwellings being situated within the 
prescribed eight metre river buffer area.  

 
Sustainability 
 
36. The Local Planning Authority’s Environmentally Sustainable Development 

Supplementary Planning Document requires all new development to meet a 
particular level of Code for Sustainable Homes assessment. In this instance 
code level 4 is required. There is associated supporting information 
accompanying this planning application confirming the appropriate level of the 
code can be achieved. Thereby, complying with the prevailing planning 
policies aimed at addressing energy and climate change.      

 
Revisions 
 
37. In general terms as explained within this report it may be suggested 

individually these modifications are fairly minor. However, cumulatively these 
revisions are significant to be materially different from the extant planning 
permission F/14/74100.  

 
38. In the order of the modifications listed within this report. Firstly, the   front wall 

of the new dwelling moved back from the pavement by 220mm and as a result 
the rear of the building set further into existing garden area. This revision will 

48



 

 

not cause any unacceptable harm to the wider street-scene. Secondly, the 
existing two doors to the ground floor of the rear elevation have been 
amalgamated to create one larger door opening. Similarly, this modification to 
the openings at ground floor will not impact on any matters of acknowledged 
importance. Thirdly, dining area made wider at ground floor and indent to side 
elevation reduced in depth. These revisions to the rear of the dwelling are to 
simply “square-off” the house and are acceptable. Fourthly, the requirement to 
create a party wall between the new dwelling and the existing garage owned 
by the occupiers of number 10 Hiltingbury Close results in the building being 
150mm longer than approved. The inclusion of an internal wall will not impact 
on the external appearance of the dwelling. It should be acknowledged that 
the front elevation to Hiltingbury Close and the ridge height remains exactly as 
the consented scheme. The internal layout remains the same and the overall 
dimensions maintained.  

 
39. Finally, an anomaly was discovered between the legal boundary on site and 

the Ordnance Survey boundary shown on the approved drawing. In addition 
the physical boundary to the inside face of the panel fence has been located 
approximately 100mm inside the legal boundary. The consequence being 
there is a variation of between 250mm/300mm between the legal boundary 
and the face of the built scheme compared to the plans relating to the extant 
planning permission. Whilst regrettable, in the context of the rear garden areas 
of the surrounding houses in Hiltingbury Close, it is felt this echoes that 
pattern of development.  

 
40. Accordingly, these revisions do not undermine the original design concept 

original planning permission and will not cause any harm to the character and 
appearance of the area or amenities currently enjoyed by occupiers of nearby 
houses.               

  
41. The proposal is considered to comply with the relevant Development Plan 

policies and National Planning Guidance 
 
Planning obligation /considerations 
 
42. The original application was subject to developer’s contributions towards the 

provision of community infrastructure, off-site public open space and 
sustainable transport in the local area. These contributions were secured. 
Consequently, there is no further requirement for contributions.    

 
Other material considerations 
 
43. Also of relevance is the Revised Draft Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-

2029.  While not yet adopted it does carry weight by virtue of being intended 
as the current local plan’s replacement.  With regards to this application, the 
new policies essentially echo those of the current plan and are not considered 
to affect the recommendation put forward. 

 
Conclusion 
 

49



 

 

44. For the reasons outlined in this report the recommendation is to grant planning 
permission for the proposed dwelling. 

 
 
 

9

45

50.6m

22

4

12

Drai
n

1

7

5

47

2

OA
KW

OO
D 

RO
AD

31

94

8

2

HILTINGBURY ROAD

19

8

Court

13

CF

1

HILTINGBURY

HI
LT

IN
G

BU
RY

9

5

12

7

11

102

CLO
SE

OAKW
OOD

2

10

46.3m

4

Ward Bdy

6

12

1

12

GORDON ROAD

CLOSE

Oakwood

3

Orc

1

© Crown copyright and database rights (2015) Ordnance Survey (LA100019622)

F/15/75899

Scale:

Map Ref:

Date:

1:1250

11/03/2015

SU4322SE

Title:

9 Hiltingbury Close

50



 

 

 
CHANDLER'S FORD & HILTINGBURY Wednesday 25 March 2015 Case Officer Gary Osmond 
 
 
SITE: North Block The Mall, 120 Winchester Road, Chandler's 

Ford, Eastleigh, SO53 2QD 
 
Ref. F/14/75734 Received: 22/12/2014     (16/02/2015) 
 
 
APPLICANT: Mr Adrian English 

 
PROPOSAL: Change of use of nightclub and offices to 9No. two bed 

flats and external alterations 
  
AMENDMENTS:  
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
 
PERMIT 
 

 
 

 
 

 
CONDITIONS AND REASONS: 
 
(1)  The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with the 

following plans numbered: AE20- SK02 Rev C, AE20_SK03 Rev C, AE20-04 
Rev A, AE20-SK05 Rev A, Ae20-SK06 Rev a,  AE20-SK07, AE20-SK08, AE20-
SK09 & Ae20-SK10.  Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of 
proper planning. 

  
(2)  The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years from the 

date of this decision.   Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

  
(3)  No development shall start until details of replacement glazing and sound 

insulation measures between the ground and first floors, as well as between flat 
units has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details prior to occupation.  Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of 
the development. 

  
(4)  The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the secure bin and 

cycle storage as shown on the approved plans has been provided in accordance 
with the approved details and thereafter retained and kept available.   Reason: 
To ensure the adequate provision of on site facilities. 

  

51

Agenda Item 12



 

 

Note to Applicant: It is considered that, subject to compliance with the conditions 
and any obligations attached to this permission, the proposed development is 
acceptable because it will not materially harm the character of the area, the 
amenity of neighbours or highway safety and it is in accordance with the policies 
and proposals of the development plan, comprising the Eastleigh Borough Local 
Plan Review 2001-2011, and after due regard to all other relevant material 
considerations including the National Planning Policy Framework and the 
Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014 the Submitted 
Local Plan comprising: the   Revised Pre-submission Eastleigh Borough Local 
Plan 2011 - 2029, published February 2014; and the Schedule of Proposed 
Minor Changes, submitted to the Secretary of State in July 2014’, the local 
planning authority is of the opinion that permission should be granted. 

 
The following development plan saved policies and emerging draft local plan 
policies are relevant to this decision and the conditions attached to it: 

 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review [2001-2011], saved Policies 28.ES, 30.ES, 
31.ES, 34.ES, 59.BE, 71.H, 72.H, 74.H, 100.T, 101.T, 105.T, 133.TC, 141.TC, 
147.OS & 191.IN 

 
Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014, the Submitted 
Local Plan, Policies DM1, DM2, DM21, DM23, DM24, DM25, DM28, DM29, 
DM32, DM35 & DM37 

 
In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework, Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive approach to the handling 
of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever possible, a positive 
outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a timely manner. 

 
Under the Town and Country Planning England Regulations 2012, a fee is 
required for Discharge of Condition Applications. N.B. Conditions not fully 
discharged, invalidate the planning permission. 

  
 

 
 

Report: 
 

This application has been referred to Committee by Councillors Atkinson, 
Grajewski and Olson. 

 
Description of Application 

 
1. The application seeks approval for the change of use of the currently disused 

first and second floors of the north block of The Mall development from the 
former snooker/night club to nine two bedroom flats, with ancillary bin and 
cycle storage. 

 
2. This application follows a recent prior approval consent to convert the first 

floor offices of the southern block into five flats under the Town and Country 

52



 

 

Planning (General Permitted Development) (Amendment) (England) Order 
2013, Schedule 2, Part 4, Class J which allows the conversion of B1a office 
uses to C3 residential. With these applications the Local Planning Authority 
can only consider transport and highway impacts of the development, 
contamination risks of the site and flood risks of the site. This permitted 
change of use is only allowed for a temporary period ending on 30th May 2016 
but the conversion works have now been undertaken. 

 
Site Area & Residential Density (Net) 

 
3. The site of the north block covers an area of approximately 726 square 

metres, which would equate to a density of 124 dwellings per hectare. 
However, if the flats within the southern block are also taken into consideration 
the whole Mall development equates to approximately 83 dwellings per 
hectare. 

 
Topography, Trees & Boundary Treatment 

 
4. The site is flat with no tree on or surrounding it. In terms of boundary 

treatment, the flank walls of the buildings form the site boundaries other than 
around the rear services yards which are bounded by 1.8 metre high brick 
walls. 

 
Site Characteristics & Character of Locality 

 
5. ‘The Mall’ development was built in the late 1980s and is formed of two blocks 

separated by a pedestrian route from Winchester Road through to the 
Chandler’s Ford Library. Each block consists of retail units on the ground floor 
with rear access and a service yard behind each block. The first floor level of 
the southern block was in office use but is now being converted into five flats. 
The first and second floors of the northern block were originally approved for 
use as a snooker hall and later a night club but have been vacant for a 
number of years. 

 
6. The Mall sits in the centre of the Fryern District Centre, the main commercial 

centre for Chandler’s Ford, which has a good range of shops, cafes, 
restaurants, offices, community facilities and some residential properties. 
Immediately adjacent to the site is the Chandler’s Ford Library to the east, with 
a doctor’s surgery, bank and offices to the south, the Fryern Arcade on the 
opposite side of Winchester Road to the west and a petrol station immediately 
to the north. The wider surrounding area is predominantly residential in nature. 

 
Relevant Planning History 

 
7. Outline approval for the erection of a three storey office block was original 

granted in 1975 (Z/15080/00A/00) but no reserved matters application was 
ever submitted. Prior to the present Mall development, which was granted 
approval in January 1988 (Z/29229/000/00), the site had been used for 
various purposes including a car showroom and workshop/storage area. 

 

53



 

 

8. Since The Mall was built there have been various applications for signage and 
some for change of use of the ground floor commercial units. However, the 
general uses of and the building itself has remained relatively unaltered. 

 
9. Most recently prior approval was granted for the change of use of the first floor 

offices within the southern block to be converted into five flats under 
application J/13/73734. As has been mentioned above, the only elements of 
the proposal which could be considered as part of this application were 
transport, land contamination and flood risk. Despite the scheme not providing 
any dedicated on-site parking for residents of the flats, in order to refuse 
consent it would have to be demonstrated that the use as residential 
accommodate would result in an adverse and unacceptable impact upon the 
local transport network or that the site was very unsustainable. Given that the 
site is within a busy local centre, it would have been difficult to substantiate 
refusal of five flats on the grounds of parking. Equally, as a conversion of first 
floor accommodation of a building which sits towards the top of a hill, there 
were no contamination or flooding issues to be considered. Hence prior 
approval being granted. 

 
Representations Received 

 
10. No representations from any parties were received. 

 
Consultation Responses 

 
11. Head of Regeneration & Planning Policy (Planning Policy) – While the use 

of upper floors within district centres is encouraged for appropriate leisure, 
office and residential purposes provided there would be no adverse impact 
upon the amenity of any of these uses; it may need to be considered whether 
the former club could be considered as a community facility. If so, no 
information to justify its loss has been provided. 

 
12. Head of Transportation & Engineering – No objection in principle subject to 

parking confirmation. 
 

13. “At present, parking to the rear of the units appears fully utilised, most 
probably by the retail units on the ground floor. If this parking were to be 
removed, then this could cause issue with staff parking, deliveries, etc. As 
such, it is suggested that this parking remains for the use of the retail units 
accordingly. 

 
14. For the 9 x 2-bed properties proposed, in accordance to the EBC Parking 

Standards, a minimum of 13 spaces would be required. Whilst if the rear 
parking were to be allocated to the retail units, no on-site parking would be 
available, the applicants have outlined how historic developer contributions / 
legal agreements give permitted access for residents to utilise the 'Waitrose' 
car park. 

 
15. Whilst this situation is being checked by the EBC Estates Team, presuming 

the claim remains active, this would be an acceptable situation as the parking 

54



 

 

is within a reasonable distance. It is suggested that all residents have access 
to 2 spaces however if these are available - not sure if some kind of permit 
arrangement between residents and Waitrose may need to be entered into to 
ensure no parking charges / fines are given?” 

 
16. Suitable secure cycle parking can be accommodated but further details of bin 

storage are required. No highway safety concerns or developers contributions 
required as former use would have generated more trips. 

 
17. Head of Regeneration & Planning Policy (Asset Management Team) – 

The Council have no record of a legal agreement which specifies the exact 
location of any parking spaces intended for use of The Mall development 
when it was originally built or that any spaces are specifically dedicated to the 
development. However, there is a unilateral undertaking which secured 
monies as part of the original planning approval towards the provision and 
upkeep of 27 spaces within the public car park/s in and around the Chandler’s 
Ford district centre to make up for the shortfall of parking on site. 

 
18. Head of Environmental Health – Objection. “The information submitted has 

not considered the impact of noise from the commercial units below the 
proposed flats, their delivers / use of the car park nor the noise from the petrol 
station and its associated facilities. In addition, there are a number of issues 
with the proposed layout submitted as non-sensitive parts of the flats have the 
potential to impact on parts of the neighbouring flat that have a sensitive use.  

 
19. The applicant needs to consider the impacts of noise on the proposed 

development from external / internal sources, including layout.” 
 

20. Chandler’s Ford Parish Council – No comments received. 
 

Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site 
 

• Within Built-up Area Boundary 
• Within Established District Centre 

 
Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies 

 
• Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 saved Policies: 28.ES, 

30.ES, 31.ES, 34.ES, 59.BE, 71.H, 72.H, 74.H, 100.T, 101.T, 105.T, 
133.TC, 141.TC, 147.OS & 191.IN 

 
• Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029, July 2014 Policies: 

DM1, DM2, DM21, DM23, DM24, DM25, DM28, DM29, DM32, DM35 & 
DM37 

 
21. The Submitted Local Plan comprises: the Revised Pre-submission Eastleigh 

Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, published February 2014; and the Schedule 
of Proposed Minor Changes, submitted to the Secretary of State in July 2014. 

 
Supplementary Planning Documents 

55



 

 

 
• Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 2011) 
• Supplementary Planning Document: Residential Parking Standards 

(January 2009) 
• Supplementary Planning Document: Environmentally Sustainable 

Development (March 2009) 
• Supplementary Planning Document: Planning Obligations (July 2008, 

updated 2010) 
• Supplementary Planning Document: Affordable Housing (July 2009) 

 
National Planning Policy Framework 

 
22. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that applications for 

planning permission must be determined in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Para 14 sets out a 
general presumption in favour of sustainable development and states that 
development proposals which accord with the development plan should be 
approved without delay. Where the development plan is absent, silent, or 
relevant policies are out-of-date planning permission should be granted unless 
the adverse impacts of the development would outweigh the benefits; or 
specific policies in the Framework indicate development should be restricted 
(paragraph 14). Paragraph 14 also sets out the “presumption in favour of 
sustainable development” in both plan-making and decision-taking. Local plan 
policies that do not accord with the NPPF are now deemed to be “out-of-date”. 
The NPPF requires that due weight should be given to relevant policies in 
existing plans according to their degree of consistency with the NPPF. In other 
words the closer the policies in the plan accord to the policies in the 
Framework, the greater the weight that may be given. 

 
23. The NPPF supports and encourages sustainable development which is 

considered to have three roles, economic, social and environmental. 
Paragraph 8 states that “These roles should not be undertaken in isolation, 
because they are mutually dependent. Economic growth can secure higher 
social and environmental standards, and well-designed buildings and places 
can improve the lives of people and communities. Therefore, to achieve 
sustainable development, economic, social and environmental gains should 
be sought jointly and simultaneously through the planning system. The 
planning system should play an active role in guiding development to 
sustainable solutions.” 

 
24. Paragraph 49 states that, “Housing applications should be considered in the 

context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development. Relevant 
policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if the 
local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable 
housing sites.” 

 
Policy Commentary 

 
25. The above policies and guidance combine to form the criteria against which 

this application will be assessed with particular regard to planning policy and 

56



 

 

the principle of development, the proposed scheme’s layout and design, 
issues of amenity for existing users and future occupiers of the development, 
parking, environmental sustainability, as well as the street scene and impact 
upon the character, vitality and viability of the Chandler’s Ford district centre. 

 
Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background 

 
26. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states:- 

 
27. "If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 

determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must 
be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise." 

 
28. In this case policy issues for consideration include: 

 
Policy 

 
29. Saved Policy 59.BE of the Local Plan which requires development to take full 

and proper account of the context of the site including the character and 
appearance of the locality and be appropriate in mass, scale, materials, 
layout, design and siting. It also requires a high standard of landscape design, 
a satisfactory means of access and layout for vehicles, cyclists and 
pedestrians, to make provision for refuse and cycle storage and avoid unduly 
impacting on neighbouring uses through overlooking, loss of light, loss of 
outlook, and noise and fumes. 

 
30. Saved Policy 71.H encourages mixed use developments where they are 

appropriate, such as in town and district centres. 
 

31. Saved Policy 72.H states that in areas of high accessibility “the Council will 
expect residential developments to achieve the maximum residential density 
compatible with the protection of reasonable residential amenity up to or 
beyond 50 dwellings per hectare if appropriate.” 

 
32. Saved Policy 100.T ensures that new development “is, or could be well served 

by public transport, cycling and walking”, as well as ensuring that its impact 
upon the existing local transport network is minimised. 

 
33. Saved Policy 105.T states that “Within town, district and local centres where it 

is not possible or environmentally desirable to meet the relevant parking 
standards on site, development, which accords with other policies in this Plan, 
may be permitted subject to a financial contribution towards measures to 
assist on-street parking management, public transport, cycling and walking.” 

 
34. Saved Policy 133.TC allows development within town, district and local 

centres provided it does not undermine the existing centre or other local 
centres, enhances and adds vitality to the existing centre and ensures that all 
storeys are designed for active use, such as housing or offices. 

57



 

 

 
35. Saved Policy 141.TC states that in identified shopping areas, proposals to 

bring upper floors into use will be permitted provided “the amenity of the upper 
floor use would not be adversely affected by the existing ground floor use” and 
“it makes adequate provision for the disposal, storage and collection of waste.” 

 
Principle 

 
36. The application site lies within the urban edge where the basic principle of 

development is considered to be acceptable, with any formal planning 
approval being based upon the exact nature, design and impact of that 
proposed being considered appropriate and in accordance with the relevant 
Local Plan policies and Supplementary Planning Documents. In addition to 
this the application site is in the heart of the Chandler’s Ford district centre 
where there are a wide range of uses, including residential, and which is in a 
very accessible location, being on a number of main bus routes and within a 
reasonable distance of Chandler’s Ford Railway Station. 

 
37. It is in areas such as this that mixed use development, including higher density 

residential development on upper floors is encouraged by the Local Plan, 
provided there is no adverse impact upon amenity of existing or proposed 
uses, or the viability and vitality of the local centre. In principle therefore, the 
proposed change of use is considered to be acceptable. 

 
38. The Head of Regeneration and Planning policy does raise the potential that 

the existing club could be considered as a community facility, which are given 
protection within the Local Plan. However, the club was only ever open to the 
public between 1989 and 1999. It was then vacant up to 2004 when it was 
used by Whitbread as a regional office and staff training facility until 2009, 
since which time it has again been vacant. These are clear commercial and 
leisure uses which fall within the D2 or sui generis planning use classes, 
meaning that they could not be used for the usual type of community facility 
such as a hall or place of worship without requiring planning approval. It is 
considered therefore that this is not relevant to the present application. 

 
Layout & Design 

 
39. Externally there would be very limited alterations to the building, the most 

noticeable of which would be removal of one of the external fire escape stairs 
to the rear of the building, together with the addition of a number of new 
windows and roof lights. The main access to the flats would utilise the original 
main entrance to the club onto Winchester Road. This entrance lobby would 
also provide access to a secure communal cycle store, as well as access to 
the rear service yard where bins would be stored. 

 
40. The ground floor retail units would remain unaltered and still have exclusive 

use of the rear service yards. At first floor there would be 3No. two bedroom 
flats within the northern wing of the building fronting directly onto Winchester 
Road, and the entrance and main living areas to 4No. two bedroom duplex 
flats within the eastern wing. At second floor level are the bedrooms to the 

58



 

 

duplex flats and the remaining pair of two bedroom flats within the northern 
wing of the building. While the main outlook for some of the proposed flats 
would be poor and there is no scope to provide any external amenity space, 
this is made up for with the size of the flats, some of which are quite generous 
for modern standards and all but two are in excess of the floor space 
standards set out in Policy DM29 of the Submitted Local Plan. 

 
41. Given that the scheme has to utilise an existing building which has limited 

scope for major alterations, the general layout and resulting appearance of 
that proposed is considered to accord with the requirements of saved Policy 
59.BE of the Local Plan, DM1 of the Submitted Local Plan and the Council’s 
‘Quality Places’ SPD. 

 
Amenity 

 
42. When considering amenity there are two main areas to take into account: the 

impact of the proposal upon existing uses; and the impact of existing uses 
upon the amenity of future occupiers of the proposed flats. 

 
43. Given that the ground floor units and uses will remain untouched and still 

retain exclusive use of parking within the rear service yard, the proposed 
residential use for the upper floors will have little or no impact upon the 
existing predominantly retail units on the ground floor. Equally, they are 
unlikely to have any noticeable impact upon other neighbouring uses such as 
the petrol station, library and surgery. In this respect the application is 
considered to accord with saved Policy 59.BE of the Local Plan, DM1 of the 
Submitted Local Plan and the Council’s ‘Quality Places’ SPD. 

 
44. Moving to the issue of the current existing uses impact upon future occupiers 

of the flats, the concerns raised by the Head of Environmental Health with 
regards to potential disturbance are noted, although it is felt that the concerns 
expressed are not quite as serious as set out. The internal layout of the flats 
appears to have been quite carefully thought out with only one instance of a 
bedroom to one flat being immediately adjacent to the kitchen and living area 
of its neighbour. In all other instances sensitive uses such as bedrooms have 
been kept away from any potential sources of disturbance from neighbouring 
flats or communal areas. This is also an issue which will be adequately 
covered by Building Regulations to ensure that suitable sound insulation is 
installed where required. 

 
45. With regards to the existing ground floor uses, the majority of which are retail 

or commercial uses such as estate agents and a bank, there are not felt to be 
any significant issues which cannot be dealt with via suitable conditions. While 
there are no restrictions with regards to opening hours for any of the units, 
none are open at unsociable hours or which require frequent deliveries. It is 
very unlikely therefore that these uses will have any adverse or unacceptable 
impact upon the residential amenity of the flats proposed. It has also been 
confirmed by the applicants that the floor construction of the building consists 
of six inch solid concrete and insulated suspended ceilings. This is more than 

59



 

 

sufficient to meet Building Regulation standards with regards to sound 
transmission. 

 
46. It is acknowledged that there are other uses within the near vicinity which 

could cause more disturbance than the current ground floor retail units, such 
as the neighbouring petrol station and a takeaway on the opposite side of the 
road. However, it equally has to be acknowledged that this is a busy district 
centre, not a quiet suburban street, where a certain level of noise and 
disturbance is to be expected and is likely to be accepted by potential 
occupiers of the flats. It is recommended however that a condition requiring 
details of sound insulation measures within the building be submitted and 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior to works commencing on site, 
although the recent replacement of windows to the southern block has 
resulting in a significant reduction of external noise being heard in the new 
flats. 

 
47. With regards to other residential amenity issues such as privacy, light, outlook 

and amenity space, while the proposed scheme is deficient in some respects it 
does make the best use of what there is available. As has been mentioned 
above there is no external amenity space but this is made up for with the 
generous size of the flats and their extremely close proximity to all the facilities 
available within and around the district centre, including a recreation ground 
which is a couple of minutes walk away. There will most likely be a degree of 
loss of privacy to a number of the flats given the proximity to those within the 
southern block of The Mall, but no worse than in some historic towns and 
cities such as Winchester which has old narrow streets. The outlook for some 
of the flats, specifically Flats 9 and 12, which look onto the library’s roof and 
the rear service yard, is not particularly attractive but again is not so 
detrimental as to warrant a refusal of the application. Equally, light to some of 
these units may be limited but not to such an extent that it would result in 
unacceptable living conditions for occupiers. Again, these are issues which 
are likely to be accepted by future occupiers and which are part of urban 
living. 

 
48. Overall therefore, the proposed scheme is considered to generally accord with 

the amenity requirements of saved Policies 30.ES, 31.ES and 59.BE of the 
Local Plan, DM1 of the Submitted Local Plan and the Council’s ‘Quality 
Places’ SPD. 

 
Parking 

 
49. As has been highlighted above, The Mall has limited parking available on site. 

That which is already there is intended to be retained for use by the ground 
floor commercial units for staff parking and deliveries. This means that there 
would be no on-site provision for occupiers of the proposed flats. The 
Council’s ‘Residential Parking Standards’ SPD states that two parking spaces 
should be provided for a two bedroom property if these spaces are to be 
specifically allocated. However, the SPD does allow a reduced number if a 
certain percentage are to be unallocated – 1.75 spaces if less than 50% are 
unallocated, which equates to 16 spaces, or 1.5 if more than 50% are 

60



 

 

unallocated, which equates to 14 spaces. Equally, the Council has accepted 
no parking provision for some residential schemes which are in highly 
accessible and sustainable locations, such as Eastleigh Town Centre. 

 
50. It has been highlighted above that planning obligations towards the provision 

of parking within the Chandler’s Ford district centre were secured as part of 
the original planning approval for The Mall development in 1988. At the time 
the development was built, there was a need to provide a total of 39 spaces 
but the site could only accommodate 12. The monies secured were put 
towards providing the remaining 27 spaces within public car parks in and 
around the district centre. However, this agreement did not specify exactly 
where these spaces were to be provided or that they would be exclusively for 
users of The Mall development. Based on the records still available this 
money appears to have been put towards improvements to the car park 
behind the Fryern Arcade, which is a very short walk across Winchester Road 
from The Mall. While this car park is often busy during the day it is much 
quieter in the evenings and is unrestricted, meaning that if necessary 
occupiers of the proposed flats could use them if they wished. 

 
51. While no on-site parking is to be provided, Chandler’s Ford district centre is 

perhaps the second most sustainable location in the Borough after Eastleigh 
Town Centre. It is in areas such as this that no on-site provision can be 
considered acceptable. Given that there is also the option of using the nearby 
public car parks and that future occupiers will have to accept that no parking is 
specifically allocated for their use, it is felt that on balance the proposal is 
acceptable in this respect and unlikely to cause any issues for parking in and 
around the district centre. 

 
52. The application is therefore considered to accord with saved Policies 59.BE, 

100.T and 105.T of the adopted Local Plan, DM1, DM23 and DM24 of the 
Submitted Local Plan. 

 
Environmental Sustainability 

 
53. The Council’s ‘Environmentally Sustainable Development’ SPD requires any 

new residential development to meet code level 4 of the Code for Sustainable 
Homes. However, this is not required in the case of the conversion of an 
existing building. Nevertheless, the application is still considered to be 
sustainable in terms of its location, by providing new lower cost housing for 
Chandler’s Ford and by bringing a disused building back into use. Thereby 
meeting the three sustainability tests within the NPPF: environmental; social; 
and economic. 

 
Street Scene & Area Character 

 
54. As mentioned above, externally there would be very minimal alterations to the 

building, the most notable being removal of an external fire escape stair, which 
is to the rear of the building, and replacement of the current red framed 
windows with modern white uPVC units to improve both thermal and sound 
insulation. The impact therefore upon the street scene of Winchester Road 

61



 

 

and the appearance of the district centre will be minimal and therefore raises 
no concerns. 

 
55. In terms of the general character of the area, bringing the upper floors back 

into use and providing lower cost housing for Chandler’s Ford can only be a 
good thing for the district centre and should help to add to its existing vitality 
and viability. It would also accord with saved Policies 133.T and 144.T of the 
Local Plan which encourage the use of upper floors and promote the vitality 
and viability of district and local centres, as well as saved Policies 71.H and 
72.H which encourage mixed uses and higher residential densities in areas of 
high accessibility. 

 
Planning Obligation / Considerations 

 
56. While contributions towards community infrastructure, public open space and 

play provision, sustainable transport measures and affordable housing would 
usually be required for any residential development of this scale, the 
ministerial statement of 28th November 2014 from The Minister of State for 
Housing and Planning, and subsequent changes to the National Planning 
Practice Guidance (NPPG) has increased the threshold for when tariff based 
planning obligations can be required by new development. This means that 
developments of ten units or less (and which have a maximum combined floor 
space of no more than 1000 square metres) will be exempt from the need to 
provide tariff based planning obligations or affordable housing. In this instance 
therefore, no planning obligations can be secured as the scheme is for nine 
flats which total less than 1000 square metres. 

 
Other Material Considerations 

 
57. Also of relevance is the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, 

July 2014.  While not yet adopted it does carry weight by virtue of being 
intended as the current local plan’s replacement.  With regards to this 
application, the new policies essentially echo those of the current plan and are 
not considered to affect the recommendation put forward. 

 
Conclusion 

 
58. While the resulting development would be deficient in areas such as private 

amenity space and on-site car parking, as well as not strictly meeting certain 
standards with regards to overlooking and floor areas, this is countered by 
bringing a long vacant building back into full use and providing much needed 
lower cost housing within a very sustainable and accessible district centre. On 
balance therefore, it is felt that the scheme is acceptable and generally 
accords with the requirements of the Council’s adopted Local Plan, as well as 
meeting the National Planning Policy Framework’s presumption in favour of 
sustainable development: economic; social; and environmental. As such the 
application is recommended for approval subject to the conditions set out 
above. 

 
 

62



 

 

 
 

45.4m

ROAD

19

8

KENDAL C
LOSE

OAKMOUNT
ROAD

Multi-storey

Arcade

2

House

113

7

8

CLAUS

1

15

1

105 Library

14

8

Car Park
132

El Sub Sta

ROMAN

Sub Sta

Bank

(course
 of)

3 t
o 

5

Inn

17

10

19

119

TCB

(PH)

Shelter

Charlotte

The

LBs

El Sub Sta

4

Fryern

44.8m

28

12

19

Oakmount

1 to 7

PO

CR

12
5

114

Halfway

14
5

111

Car Park

7

Bank

8

Superstore

30

43.9m

El

1 to 18

7

Fryern Court

1

Fryern Surgery

Fryern

The Mall

121b

112

7

Car Park

House

Court

to

15

W
ard Bdy

12

130

© Crown copyright and database rights (2015) Ordnance Survey (LA100019622)

F/14/75734

Scale:

Map Ref:

Date:

1:1250

11/03/2015

SU4421SW

Title:

The Mall, 120
Winchester Road

 

63



This page is intentionally left blank



Eastleigh Borough Council

AC876MP - Community Grants 15/16 & Other financial allocations

CHANDLER’S FORD & HILTINGBURY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE

Wednesday 25th March 2015 

COMMUNITY GRANTS 2015/2016 AND OTHER FINANCIAL 
ALLOCATIONS

Report of the Area Co-ordinator 

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that:

1) Grants of £3,094 be approved as recommended in Appendix 3 to this report.  
This to be funded from this committee’s community grants budget (£2,970) 
and from reserves (£124);

2) Members allocate £350 from this committee’s reserves to purchase and 
install a new dual purpose bin at Chalvington Road;

3) Members allocate £192 (50% of the total cost) from it’s neighbourhood watch 
budget towards the production of the newsletter in Chandler’s Ford and 
Hiltingbury in 2014/15; and

4) Members of this Committee are invited to assist in the creation of an up-to-
date community organisations list in order to maximise the range of groups 
that receive the opportunity to apply for grant funding.

Summary

This report recommends that £3,094 be allocated from this committee’s community grants 
budget and reserves to local voluntary organisations operating in the Chandler’s Ford & 
Hiltingbury local area for 2015/16  

Statutory Powers

Section 1 Localism Act 2011.

Introduction

1. Grants are awarded each year by this committee to voluntary organisations 
and community groups.  Grants are awarded up to a maximum amount of 
£1,000.  Priority is given to applications which promote the themes of the 
Corporate Strategy and reflect the priorities of each Local Area Committee.

2. The specific criteria for awarding grants is detailed in Appendix 1.

65

Agenda Item 14



Eastleigh Borough Council

AC876MP - Community Grants 15/16 & Other financial allocations

3. In line with Council policy all community groups are being encouraged to sign 
up to the Eastleigh Community Compact.  As part of this good practice a 
grants appeal procedure is now in place and attached for information as 
Appendix 2.

Local Area Grant Applications

4. Applications have been received from 8 voluntary organisations and 
community groups.  Funding is being sought by these organisations for a 
range of purposes including general running costs and the purchase of 
various items of equipment.  A list of the applicant organisations and details of 
their requests is attached to this report (Appendix 3).

Local Area Committee Grants budget

5.  The current budget available for Chandler’s Ford & Hiltingbury is £2,970.  

6. Appendix 3 outlines the recommended level of grant for each of the applicant 
organisations.   It is considered appropriate in the current economic climate to 
sustain a reasonable level of grant where possible and to reject applications 
from organisations who have the ability to operate commercially and increase 
income through their fees.  As each group has made relatively modest 
requests, it was decided at the January working group to add monies from 
reserves to permit all grants to be paid in full on this occasion. 

7. There has been a tradition of supporting applications from childcare and pre-
school groups but the Local Area Committee resolved last year to exclude 
these groups from the community grants scheme on the basis that they had 
the ability to raise income through their fees. Parent and toddler/playgroups 
will not be excluded. 

8. Whilst the level of financial support we are able to offer community 
organisations is relatively modest, Members will note that we are able to direct 
organisations to other potential sources of funding.  In addition, major capital 
expenditure may attract funding from the Council’s Community Investment 
Programme where the resultant asset has a clear benefit to the wider 
community.  

9. Applicants will be encouraged to seek funding from a range of sources 
including local and County councils. 

10. This committee is updating its community groups list as this is used to send 
out grant application packs.  Members will encourage groups they know of to 
apply for grants and have agreed to provide lists of any groups they know of 
to the admin team in area coordination thus enabling the maximum range of 
organisations to be invited to apply for funds. 

Neighbourhood Watch newsletter

11. This committee, as part of its commitment to community safety, has provided 
funding towards the production of a neighbourhood watch newsletter.  Over 
recent years the cost of producing this has been reduced by the organisation’s 

66



Eastleigh Borough Council

AC876MP - Community Grants 15/16 & Other financial allocations

commitment to digitalisation wherever possible.  There remain costs for those 
(usually elderly) members who need to receive paper copies.  

12. This committee has a reduced budget and has advised the organisation it 
should seek funding from a wider range of sources which it has started to do.  
Members are invited to allocate £192 from this committee’s neighbourhood 
watch budget (half of the cost of production for the Chandler’s Ford and 
Hiltingbury area).  The group has been advised that with tighter budgets, this 
may not be available in years to come. 

Chalvington Road dual purpose bin

13. Following complaints from the public and advice from the animal welfare 
officer and Direct Services staff, Members are invited to allocate £315 from 
this Committee’s reserves to fund the purchase and installation of a dual 
purpose bin in Chalvington Road.  The exact location of the bin to be 
determined by the animal welfare office and staff from Direct Services based 
on their local fouling and litter knowledge.  The cost of emptying this bin can 
be met from within the existing allocation for the area.

Financial Implications

14. There are no revenue implications associated with this report as adequate 
budget provision has been made in local devolved budgets.  `

Risk Assessment

15. There are no identified risks associated with this report.  All approved grants 
are subject to submission of monitoring information.

Equality and Diversity Implications

16. The report complies with our policy to ensure that the voluntary and 
community sector are treated fairly and equitably.  The grant applications 
make every effort to target disadvantaged groups.  Equality impact 
assessments on individual grants applications have not been made.

Conclusion

17. The recommendations made in this report complement adopted corporate 
priorities and strategies as well as this Committee’s local priorities.  Subject to 
the approval of this Committee, grant awards could be made in April of this 
year.  The Council’s community development manager will undertake 
appropriate monitoring of grants to ensure any specific conditions are adhered 
to.

MIN PARTNER
(acting Area Co-ordinator)

Date: 9th February 2015
Contact Officer: Min Partner
Tel No: 023 8068 8439
e-mail: min.partner@eastleigh.gov.uk

67



Eastleigh Borough Council

AC876MP - Community Grants 15/16 & Other financial allocations

Appendices Attached: 3
Report No: AC876MP

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information:

8 Grant applications received and held on file for further inspection.  

68



Page 1 CFH GRANTS LIST 2015-16

CFH GRANT AWARDS 2015/16 APPENDIX 1

REF ORGANISATION PURPOSE/REQUEST
AMOUNT

REQUESTED COMMENTS
AMOUNT

RECOMMENDED Last Year

1
Chandlers Ford & District Explorer
Scouts Canoes, buoyancy aids, paddles £500

2 Chandlers Ford Good Neighbours Shortfall between income & expenditure £300
3 Age Concern Chandlers Ford Internal & external works £500
4 The Friendly Circle Running costs £400

5
Win & Distr Local Duke of
Edinburgh Comm Equipment, travel costs, awards £400

6 Dovetots Toddler Grp Replacement of large toys £150
7 Springboard Purchase of new computer £500
8 Girlguiding, Chandlers Ford Div Universal folding aluminium tables £344

TOTAL £3,094

69



T
his page is intentionally left blank



AC876MPAPP2 – Grants Appeal

APPENDIX 2

COMPACT
THE FUNDING GUIDE APPEALS PROCEDURE
Community Grants
Organisations wishing to appeal against a decision should put their concerns in
writing to the relevant Local Area Co-ordinator for Local Area Committee grants or
Community Development Manager for Borough-wide grants.

A response will be sent to the organisation within 5 working days. If further
investigation is required then the organisation would be informed about how long this
will take.

If the organisation is not satisfied with the response they should put their concerns in
writing to the Chair of the relevant Local Area Committee for Local Area Committee
grants or the Executive Councillor for Social Policy for Borough-wide grants. Their
decision would be final.

Grounds for Appeal
The Council not adhering to published deadlines for applications.
Inconsistency in the amount of grant awarded for similar applications.

71



This page is intentionally left blank



GRNTGUIDANCE15-16

Guidance Notes for Community Grants

Who can apply?

 Community groups, voluntary organisations, trusts, friendly societies, social enterprises and 
community interest companies provided that, in all cases, their objectives are charitable as 
defined by the Charity Act 2006.

 Seek to improve the quality of life of local people.  Priority is given to organisations whose aims 
reflect the Council’s priorities of promoting health, prosperity, the environment, community 
development and community involvement.

 Operate entirely or partly in the Borough.

 Provide a service directly, offer advice/information or promote self help.

 Have a wide community benefit and are open to anyone who could benefit.

 Operate on a non-profit making basis.

 Have a constitution or set of rules defining its aims, objectives and procedures.

 Have a bank or building society account in the name of the organisation which requires at least 
two signatures on each cheque.

 Can provide its most recent approved and signed accounts.

What can they be used for?

 Purchase of equipment or materials

 Contribution towards running costs.

 Funding specific projects.

 Development of the organisation.

How much are the grants?

There is no minimum.  There is a usual maximum of £1,000 per organisation for borough wide 
groups and £500 for local community groups.

Who deals with the grants?

Grant forms are available from the Area Co-ordination Team at the Borough Council.  Applications 
are considered by the relevant Local Area Committee(s) and you will be informed of their decision 
during February 2015.

When to apply?

The application forms need to be returned by Friday 14 NOVEMBER 2014.

Screening Volunteers and Employees
73



GRNTGUIDANCE15-16

Screening is used here to mean checking if someone has a criminal record. It is one way of reducing the 
risk of recruiting volunteers or staff who may be unsuitable to work with children or other vulnerable people.

All organisations can ask on their application forms if volunteers or staff have a criminal record. This is vital 
where volunteers will be working with vulnerable people and something to consider for volunteers going 
into people’s homes or with unsupervised access to money.

Ex-offenders normally have the right not to reveal spent (old) convictions. But where work involves contact 
with vulnerable people, organisations can require applicants to declare spent convictions too. Vulnerable 
people includes people under 18 or over 65, people with a mental or physical disability or chronic illness, 
alcohol or drug misuses.

The Criminal Records Bureau (CRB) conducts what was previously called police checks and these are now 
re-named ‘disclosures’. There are three types of disclosures:

 Enhanced disclosures -
for posts involving substantial contact with children or vulnerable adults.

 Standard Disclosures -
for posts involving regular contact with vulnerable people. 

 Basic Disclosure –
available for anyone and will be issued to individuals directly.

In order to get enhanced and standard disclosures organisations need either to a) register with the CRB 
direct or b) approach an ‘umbrella’ organisation who is  registered as an ‘umbrella’ organisation and can 
process applications on their behalf. 

The Children Act

The Children Act 1989 in seeking to protect children, places certain responsibilities on childcare agencies. 
However the Home Office and Department of Health advise that these responsibilities do not extend to 
requiring that everyone in contact with children are screened. Those who have unsupervised contact or 
regular contact with children should be screened.

Organisations which are for under 8’s for more than two hours a day more than four times a year are 
required to register with OFSTED.

Useful Addresses
Criminal Records Bureau One Community OFSTED
PO Box 91 16 Romsey Road Regional Office
Liverpool EASTLEIGH 1-2 Floors, Dukes Court
LO9 2UH SO50 9AL Dukes Street
http:/www/crb.gov.uk Tel: 02380 902400 Woking  GU21 5ED  

Tel: 0845 6014771

Organisations working with any vulnerable people including children should ensure they have appropriate 
policies. Advice and information about this and other policies is available from One Community.

Who deals with the grants?

Please return the completed form to the Area Co-ordination Team at Eastleigh Borough Council. If you 
have any queries contact:

Helen Coleman
Eastleigh Borough Council
Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street
Eastleigh.   SO50 9YN
Tel. 023 8068 8017 Email: helen.coleman@eastleigh.gov.uk

74


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	8 Planning Application - 237 Winchester Road, Chandler's Ford
	9 Planning Application - 237 Winchester Road, Chandler's Ford
	10 Planning Application - 1 Hiltingbury Close, Chandler's Ford
	11 Planning Application - 9 Hiltingbury Close, Chandler's Ford
	12 Planning Application - North Block, The Mall, 120 Winchester Road, Chandler's Ford
	14 Community Grants 2015/16 and other Financial Allocations
	AC876MPAPP1 - Community Grants list 2015-16
	AC876MPAPP2 - Grants Appeal
	AC876MPAPP3 - Grant Guidance




